
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR 
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web: www.dartford.gov.uk 

 
 

 
 
 

Policy Overview 
Committee 

 
 
 

Councillor S P Butterfill (Chairman) 
 

Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor E Ben Moussa 
Councillor S H Brown 
Councillor J Burrell 
Councillor L A Canham 
Councillor R M Currans 
Councillor M J Davis 
Councillor A Gaskin 
 

Councillor K J Grehan 
Councillor P M Harman 
Councillor G R Holt 
Councillor D T Nicklen 
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE 
Councillor K Stealey 
Councillor Mrs R F Storey 
 
 

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on 
 

Tuesday 14 March 2023 
 

 
at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford 

 
Chief Officer and Director of Corporate Services 

6 MARCH 2023 
 

 



 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 
 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE  
AGENDA 

 
Tuesday 14 March 2023 

 
  
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
2. Declarations of Interest   
 To receive declarations of interest from Members including the terms 

of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or Chief 
Officer and Director of Corporate Services. 
 

 

 
3. Confirmation of the minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held 

on 13 December 2022 (Pages 1 - 10) 
 

 
4. Urgent Items   
 The Chairman will announce her decision as to whether there are any 

urgent items and their position on the agenda. 
 

 

 
5. To consider references from other Committees (if any)   
 None 

 
 

 
6. Regulation 9 Notice (Pages 11 - 14)  
 To consider any issues arising from the Regulation 9 Notice for the 

period 15 February to 31 July 2023. 
 

 

 
7. Health Care Provision Update   
 To receive updates/presentations from NHS representatives and the 

HCRG Care Group (formerly Virgin Care). 
 

 

 
8. Dartford Health Inequalities Action Plan and Annual Report 

2021-22 (Pages 15 - 56) 
 

 
9. Corporate Plan Performance Indicators, Third Quarter 2022-23 

Municipal Year (Pages 57 - 74) 
 

 
10. Committee Work Plan 2023-24 (Pages 75 - 78)  
 To agree a Work Plan for the ensuing 2023-24 municipal year. 

 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



1

D A R T F O R D  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L 
 

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on Tuesday 13 
December 2022 at 7.00 pm 

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor S P Butterfill (Chairman) 
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor S H Brown 
Councillor R M Currans 
Councillor M J Davis 
Councillor K J Grehan 
Councillor P M Harman 
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE 
 

 
ABSENT: 
 

Councillor E H Ben Moussa 
Councillor J Burrell 
Councillor L A Canham 
Councillor A Gaskin 
Councillor G R Holt 
Councillor D T Nicklen 
Councillor K Stealey 
Councillor Mrs R F Storey 
 

 
ALSO 
PRESENT: 

Cllr. R J Wells – Cabinet Portfolio Holder for 
Community Safety & Youth 

 Trish Chapman – Chairman, Dartford Housing Forum 
(Observer) 

 
Dartford Borough Council Officers 
 

 Peter Dosad – Director of Housing and Public 
Protection 

 Mark Salisbury – EARS Manager 
 Dave Thomas – Waste & Parks Manager 
 Richard Cherry – Enforcement Manager 
 Nick White – Senior Environmental Enforcement 

Officer 
 David Hook – Democratic Services Officer 

 
 

20. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
The Chairman welcomed Members, attending Officers and Mrs Trish 
Chapman, Chairman of the Council’s Housing Forum in her observer role. 
 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors; Ben Moussa, 
Burrell, Canham, Gaskin, Holt, Nicklen, Stealey and Storey. 
 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 13 DECEMBER 2022 

2

Members congratulated Cllr. Butterfill on her appointment as chairman of the 
committee for the remainder on the current 2022-23 municipal cycle. 
 

21. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

22. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW 
MEETING HELD ON 6 SEPTEMBER 2022  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on 6 
September 2022 be confirmed as an accurate record of those proceedings. 
 

23. URGENT ITEMS  
 
The Chairman confirmed that there were no urgent items for Members to 
consider. 
 

24. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY)  
 
There were no references from other Committees for Members to consider.  
 

25. REGULATION 9 NOTICE [FORWARD PLAN] FOR THE PERIOD 11 
NOVEMBER 2022 TO 31 MARCH 2023  
 
  RESOLVED: 
 
That Members note the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice [Forward Plan] for 
the period 11 November 2022 to 31 March 2023. 
 

26. ENVIRONMENTAL ENFORCEMENT UPDATE REPORTS  
 
With the Chairman’s permission and on the understanding that both had been 
read, the EARS Manager advised Members that he would summarise the 
contents of both his reports and appendices together [agenda Items 7 and 8 
refer].  
 
Members were reminded that following initial Cabinet approval in March 2013  
and a subsequent assessment of the proposed enforcement measures, 
including an extensive and overwhelmingly supportive consultation exercise 
with the Dartford public and the Committee’s approval in November 2015 
[Min. No. 21 refers]; on 25 January 2016 Kingdom Services Group Limited 
(Kingdom), were appointed by the Council to implement a Litter Enforcement 
[pilot] Scheme (the Scheme) for an initial trial period of 6 months; to improve 
the quality and effectiveness of litter and dog fouling enforcement across the 
Borough, together with other waste crime offences that fell within the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990. 
 

Page 2Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 13 DECEMBER 2022 

3

At the mid-point in that pilot scheme, the EARS Manager had commissioned a 
review undertaken by the Enforcement Manager. That review, followed by an 
open recruitment process, had informed the Cabinet’s decision on 2 June 
2016 [Min. No. 8 refers], to award Kingdom a three-year contract (with an 
optional 2 year extension) from January 2017. Following the success of that 
initial 5 year contract, a further three-year contract had been awarded to 
Kingdom/LA Support Limited [the latter being the local authority provider of 
Kingdom’s enforcement services] from January 2022.  
 
The Council’s independent Internal Audit service had examined the Scheme 
in July 2016 [DBC16-16/17] and submitted a ‘Substantial Assurance’ to the 
Audit Board in July 2016 [Min. No. 27 refers]. A further financial audit of the 
Scheme had taken place in February 2022 [DBC14-2122A refers], and 
concluded with a ‘Reasonable Assurance’ opinion, and that the performance, 
processes, procedures   and controls for the service were operating 
effectively.   
 
LA Support (Kingdom) and its 5 Dartford based Officers including a team 
leader, were now fully integrated into the working practices and required 
standards of the Council’s Litter Enforcement Scheme and Environmental 
Enforcement service. They provided a visible presence in the town centre, 
were linked by radio to the DTAC (Dartford Town against Crime) network 
providing information on recidivist shoplifters and helped in road traffic 
incidents. On behalf of the Council, Kingdom was authorised to issue Fixed 
Penalty Notices (FPNs) for offences under the relevant Environmental Crime 
Offences and Dog Fouling of Lands Acts [Cabinet Min. No. 75 of 2015 refers]. 
In 2019 Kingdom Services Group Limited novated to LA Support Limited (LA 
Support), and as part of an extended contract with the Council approved by 
Cabinet that October, LA Support (Kingdom) services were expanded to 
include enforcement of a range of additional offences such as, littering from 
vehicles, commercial (trade) waste, fly tipping, fly posting, graffiti and Public 
Space Protection Order (PSPO) breaches on behalf of the Council. In January 
2020 registered businesses in Dartford were reminded by letter of the 
requirement to have Trade Waste Agreements in place and that Waste 
Transfer Notices be available for inspection by Trade Waste Enforcement 
Officers on behalf of the Council. 
 
 
The Council’s tariff for FPNs was reasonable and significantly lower than 
those imposed by other local authorities across England. FPNs for litter were 
£75 and for dog fouling £50 [the latter set by legislation] with a 14 day 
payment period, before criminal proceedings were initiated. Cases involving 
serious hardship were deferred for 3 months, and offenders with obvious 
mental health issues treated on a discretionary basis. FPNs for trade waste 
and low-level fly tipping were £300 and for a PSPO (Public Space Protection 
Order) £100, with littering from vehicles, graffiti, fly posting and waste duty of 
care all subject to a £75 FPN. The Scheme paid for itself leaving the Council 
with zero financial risk and 30% of the FPN revenues to invest in the capital 
costs of its wider Environmental policy measures. 
  
 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 13 DECEMBER 2022 

4

 
All of the additional Kingdom responsibilities listed above, had enabled DBC 
Officers in the Environmental Enforcement team to investigate and prosecute 
the more complex fly tipping offences. All were former Police Officers with 
high skill levels, which had enabled the Council to investigate between 300-
400 prosecutable cases per annum using both overt and covert CCTV 
cameras. In February 2021, in response to substantial and sustained high 
volume industrial level fly tipping at the Birchwood and New Barn Recycle 
areas, the Council had installed state of the art ANPR technology and ‘Waste 
Watch’ fly tip prevention and reduction overt cameras at both locations 
(financed through FPN revenues). As a consequence, fly tipping at both 
locations had been virtually eradicated [table para 3.16 agenda Item 7 refers].  
 
This successful Council initiative, the first by a local authority in England, had 
resulted in many Kent authorities seeking the Enforcement Managers advice, 
as Dartford continued to set the ‘gold standard’ in combating fly tipping in 
Kent. Those efforts had been recognised nationally, with the Enforcement 
Manager invited to make appearances on the BBC,  ITV, C4 and C5 detailing 
the Council’s successes, with a further appearance on the ITV scheduled for 6 
January 2023, further enhancing the Council’s profile and reputation in the 
process. In addition to the 2021 camera initiative, DBC Officers in the 
Council’s Environmental Enforcement Team had been instrumental in pulling 
together a ‘Pan-Kent’ intelligence sharing network to prevent and deter fly 
tipping. The network was coordinated by a dedicated analyst at KCC, and had 
resulted in enhanced information sharing processes leading to a more 
coordinated approach between boroughs and at county level to combat fly 
tipping.  
 
The Council had enjoyed a successful partnership with Kingdom/LA Support 
since 2016. The current contract to January 2025 contained an option to 
extend to 2027 which reflected the continued success of the current 
arrangements which, given the small number of repeat offenders, had 
effectively changed offender behaviour in the Borough regarding littering 
offences.  
 
In addition to the Scheme being self-financing in operational terms, the 
Council’s 30% share of FPN revenue was reinvestment to meet its Corporate 
Strategic Objectives of reducing Anti-Social Behaviour, increasing public 
perception of the Borough as a safe place to live and work, and to ensure a 
high quality street scene. In eight short years, the Council had progressed 
from a small in-house litter enforcement team, to a successful and expanding 
litter enforcement regime which set the standard for Kent. Led by the current 
Enforcement Manager (EM), highly skilled Council Officers undertook 
complex and detailed investigations of fly tipping, and Kingdom staff under the 
overall supervision of the EM, undertook the day to day enforcement of litter, 
dog fouling and other minor offences, helped by the Council’s Park Ranger 
team. In the last 18 months, the Council’s new policy of publically ‘naming and 
shaming’ convicted offenders had proved to be an increasingly effective 
deterrent.  
 

Page 4Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 13 DECEMBER 2022 

5

In response to subsequent questions from Members the EARS and 
Enforcement Managers confirmed the following points: 
 

 Cameras were only installed at identified fly tipping ‘hot spots’, it was 
not permitted by law to install cameras at either end of a street or 
thoroughfare to monitor traffic flow; 

 Camera purchase and placement was also limited by the number of 
trained and experienced DBC staff to view the resultant footage; 

 Kingdom had the staffing numbers to view footage of low-level offences 
e.g. litter and dog-fouling, but only videoed the subsequent inter-action 
with the offenders to confirm the offence, they did not undertake 
surveillance operations; 

 Overt cameras with signage placed in the general area of the 
equipment [not next to cameras ] were the best route to deter and 
detect fly tipping; 

 Standard overt cameras could be used for number plate recognition but 
a witness statement would also be required to build a case for 
prosecution [given that only the police had access to vehicle licencing 
records]; 

 Waste Watch cameras installed at Crossways could be used as a 
‘quick fix’ for ANPR recognition but vehicle ownership remained the 
problem, with the Council required to apply via KCC to Kent Police for 
ownership details – a lengthy process with no guarantee of conviction 
at the end; 

 Waste Watch cameras were moveable but extraction/relocation of 
current overt cameras was more problematical. A review of the current 
camera regime was proposed in 2023; 

 Camera footage could be used in support of police action to prosecute    
drug offences. The Council’s Community Safety Partnership was a 
possible source of funding for cameras via a request from the Council’s  
Crime & Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny Committee); 

 Breaking down litter fines by Ward [for publicity purposes] was 
possible, but given the 3,000 annual litter offences was too labour 
intensive for the Council team and would not in any case give the 
nature of the offences, and ‘naming & shaming’ could be difficult in 
these minor cases. Council resources were best concentrated on 
known hot spots;  

 The basic data for cleared fly tips (repeat locations) from the Council’s 
contractor Urbaser [agenda item 8 Appendix B], contained too many 
disparate factors, including high staff turn-over and the urban/country 
differential, to allow any sensible extrapolations to be made; 

 Offending pupils were ‘named and shamed’ in school by visiting CSU 
Officers, but if under 16 years old could not be prosecuted. 

 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder encouraged Members and residents to inform 
DBC Environmental Enforcement Officers /LA Support (Kingdom) Officers of 
the times and locations of repeat offences in their Wards, and to undertake 
walkabouts with Council Officers of litter hot-spots.  
 
The Chairman thanked the EARS Manager for his reports and congratulated 
the Environmental Enforcement team for providing an excellent well-managed 

Page 5 Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 13 DECEMBER 2022 

6

service, based on a sound self-financing model which also generated 
additional income to re-invest in the capital costs of the Council’s enforcement 
measures. 
 
 
  RESOLVED: 
 

1. That Members note the report and Appendix A, detailing the activities 
of and performance by LA Support Limited in connection with the 
Council’s Litter Enforcement Scheme [agenda Item 7 refers]; 
 

2. That Members note the report and Appendices A and B, detailing the 
activities of the performance by the Environmental Enforcement service 
in connection with the Council’s litter and enforcement regime and 
policies [agenda Item 8 refers]; 
 

3. That Members appreciation of and congratulations to the Council’s 
Environmental Enforcement service and LA Kingdom Officers be 
recorded in the Minutes.  

 
27. MANAGEMENT OF COUNCIL OPEN SPACES UPDATE  

 
The update report from the Waste & Parks Manager (WPM) advised Members 
that the background to the Council’s playgrounds and open spaces service 
[and the issues the service faced], remained as set out in his substantive 
report to the Committee of 20 July 2021 [attached as Appendix A to the 
update report]. 
 
The WPM summarised subsequent progress since July 2021 in the three key 
activity areas of playgrounds, trees/orchards/Meadows and Dartford 
Heath/Marshes as follows: 
 
PLAYGROUNDS 
 

 A refurbishment scheme had commenced in early 2022 and existing 
playgrounds at Queens Gardens, Darenth Country Park, and 
Jessamine Place had all now been completed; 

 An entirely new playground had been created at The Bridge; 
 Refurbishment of playgrounds at Hesketh Park and Worcester Park 

were underway and due for completion in February 2023; 
 Work on the new Buccaneer Bay playground in Central Park had 

commenced in November and was due to be completed in March 2023 
with many of the major components for construct ‘on-site’ already in 
place; 

 All refurbished and new playgrounds had been designed with 
accessibility as a top priority and included, wide gateways, level 
surfaces and pathways, ground level roundabouts and you & me 
swings. 

 
The WPM held regular meetings with the Leader and the Lead Member for 
Parks, Open Spaces & Heritage regarding ongoing works and proposals for 

Page 6Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 13 DECEMBER 2022 

7

the second phase of the playgrounds refurbishment programme in the 2023-
24 fiscal year. An initial budget of £1M had been submitted for the 
refurbishment of a further 5-10 Council adopted playgrounds. If the budget 
was approved the Park’s team would be compiling a draft list of proposed 
sites based on current conditions and other factors.  
 
TREES, ORCHARDS and MEADOWS 
 
The Council’s formal tree planting process was now in its second year. During 
that time new orchards had been created at Hesketh Park, Swanscombe 
Park and Alamein Gardens. Seventy (70) new trees had been planted at 
various locations in the late Queen’s Green Canopy and some 50 trees in 
Central Park, mainly along the edge of the Bellway development. More tree 
planting was planned at various locations in Temple Hill, and the Park’s team 
were working with Wilmington Parish Council to create a new orchard at 
Oakfield Park. In total, some 18% of Dartford was covered with trees, which 
was high compared to many other Boroughs. The Council policy was to plant 
in batches of 10-70 trees, which would mature over a 5-10 year period to 
provide a permanent legacy for Dartford and its residents. 
 
Wildflower meadows were deemed equally important by the Council, and new 
meadows had been created at Hesketh Park as part of the new orchard, and 
at Darenth Country Park as part of the renewal of the old orchards. Further 
meadows were planned in 2023 at Binnie Road and Jessamine Place, and 
the closed cemetery at East Hill was in the process of being partly converted 
into a wildflower meadow, given its status as a site of great ecological interest.   
 
 
DARTFORD HEATH and DARTFORD MARSHES 
 
Following the major fires earlier in the year at both the Heath and in the 
Marshes, which had caused substantial damage at both sites, the Parks team 
were working closely with volunteers and the Community Service (via its 
‘Payback Scheme’), to undertake an estimated 2 year programme to restore 
both areas. In addition, in conjunction with the KFRS (Kent Fire & Rescue 
Service) firebreaks had been expanded as required. 
 
 
STONE PARK 
 
A new outdoor space/nature park was to be created at Stone on the land 
behind the new Stone School site. Several options were being considered, 
including the creation of a mountain bike/off road scrambling track for non-
motorised bikes. 
 
In concluding his update presentation the WPM suggested that he return to 
update the Committee in 2024 when the majority of the many proposed works 
would have been completed or substantially advanced, and the tree and 
meadow planting have matured. 
 

Page 7 Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 13 DECEMBER 2022 

8

In response to subsequent questions from Members the WPM confirmed the 
following principal points: 
 

 The Council planted semi-mature trees of about 1.5 metres in height to 
help combat rabbit and other animal damage prone to smaller less-
mature saplings. Mature and semi-mature trees had tripled in cost 
following the advent of the Green Agenda. The Council bought young 
trees which were then matured in a specially constructed nursery 
area in Darenth Country Park before planting, to both defray capital 
costs and avoid damage by wildlife; 

 The KFRS had attributed the fires at Dartford Heath to considerable 
amounts of broken glass found in the area, which in the exceptional 
and prolonged temperatures during the summer, had caused the fires 
through reflected sunlight. Arson was not suspected and to his 
knowledge, no arrests had been made regarding the fires; 

 It had been Council policy not to adopt playgrounds for some 20 years 
[report para 3.6 agenda p.42 refers] on cost grounds, and there was 
no requirement for the Council to adopt playgrounds. All 25 Council 
adopted playgrounds received regular inspection, cleaning and 
maintenance from the Council’s playgrounds’ contractor Continental 
Landscapes Ltd. However, the industry was particularly badly hit 
during COVID and slow to recover, and the Council’s current 
refurbishment scheme reflected that reality. Seven of the Council’s 
25 playgrounds had been refurbished with another 5-10 mooted for 
refurbishment in 2023-24 dependent on funding. Many other 
playgrounds in the Borough were either owned by Parishes or 
privately. New playgrounds were maintained by the developers 
funded by maintenance fees from home owners; 

 Residents had opposed the installation of a second set of swings in 
Queens Gardens but alternative equipment was being considered 
for installation in January 2023; 

 There was no set timeline for the proposed Stone Park development.  
Finances were in place and the construction process estimated at 2 
years; 

 Attractions at the new Buccaneer Bay facility in Central Park were 
made from durable and long-lasting metal and wood, with the 
attractions spaced out to give adults/carers of children good lines of 
sight between amenities with good disabled access. 

 
The Chairman expressed her thanks to the WPM for his update report and his 
positive responses to Members’ subsequent questions.  
 
She praised the Council’s initiative to invest in playgrounds, parks and 
wildflower meadows across the whole Borough. The Parks team’s initiative to 
invest in a tree nursery [as part of the Council’s tree planting scheme] was 
particularly noteworthy, and she asked that Members’ congratulations were 
passed to his team. 
 

28. CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 2022  
 
  RESOLVED: 

Page 8Agenda Item 3



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY 13 DECEMBER 2022 

9

 
That Members note the report on the second quarter returns on the Corporate 
Plan Performance Indicators as set out in detail in Appendix A to the report. 
 

29. COMMITTEE WORK PLAN UPDATE 2022-23  
 
The report from the Committee Co-ordinator reminded Members of the scope 
and purpose of the Committee’s Work Plan and its inter-relationship with the 
Council’s 2021-23 Corporate Plan. Details of the topics being scrutinised by 
the Committee in the current 2022-23 municipal cycle were set out in 
Appendix A to the report. 
 
Members were advised that the long-mooted presentation by the Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation (EDC) was now scheduled for June 2023, together 
with the Chairman’s request for an update report on the Planet Dartford 
project, and how it fitted within the Council’s new environmental and green 
policies. 
 
The previous Chairman asked that Officers did their utmost to ensure that 
representatives of the relevant NHS body responsible for GP provision in 
Dartford attend the Committee’s meeting in March 2023 when NHS service 
provider’s traditionally presented their annual updates to the Committee. 
 
Post Meeting Note 
 
Exceptionally, in June 2022 (rather than March), Members had received 
‘Health Care Provision Updates (post-Pandemic)’ from all NHS and 
Partnership bodies providing health care to Dartford residents [Min. No. 7 
refers]. With regard to current and increased GP provision for Dartford, 
Members were advised that GP provision was no longer assessed at the local 
level by individual ICPs [e.g. Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley ICP], but at a 
County level under the auspices of the new Kent & Medway Integrated Care 
System [from July 2022]. Representatives of that Kent-wide body should be 
invited by Officers to update Members regarding GP provision going forward.    
 
  RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the report and Appendix A be noted; 
2. That the current Work Plan [Appendix A to the report] be updated to 

include the additional proposals for March and June 2023 as minuted 
above. 

    
 

The meeting closed at 8.25 pm 
 

 Councillor S P Butterfill 
CHAIRMAN 

 
 

Page 9 Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



15 February 2023 - 31 July 2023 

1 of 3

 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE 
 
This document lists all key decisions due  to be taken  in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. The reasons for going into closed 
session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly. 
 
All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively. 
 
Cabinet Members: 
 
Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader of the Council 
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Deputy Leader of the Council and Town Centre  
Councillor S H Brown, Portfolio: Climate Change, Environment & Waste 
Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio: Finance 
Councillor D J Mote, Portfolio: Housing 
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio: Arts & Culture 
Councillor R J Wells, Portfolio: Community Safety & Youth 
 
All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5 
clear days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background 
documents which have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating 
recommendations or options for decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing 
memberservices@dartford.gov.uk. 
 
This notice supersedes all previous notices. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 6

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:memberservices@dartford.gov.uk


2 of 3 

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED 

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM 

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW 

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS 

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR 

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified) 

Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) Annual Review 
 
To provide an update on, and 
provide context for, the 
delivery programme in terms 
of the level of CIL funding 
received by the Council, the 
progress with the delivery of 
strategic infrastructure projects 
identified in the Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan over the past 
year, and to report income and 
expenditure through the 
Infrastructure Funding 
Statement. 
 

Cabinet 
23 Feb 2023 
 

Applicable key local 
service providers. 

 
 

Mark Aplin, Planning Policy 
Manager 
Tel: 01322 343202 
mark.aplin@dartford.gov.uk 

OPEN 

P
age 12

A
genda Item

 6



3 of 3 

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED 

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM 

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW 

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS 

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR 

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified) 

Dartford Town Centre Parking 
Study - Results of Initial Public 
Consultation for the West Hill/ 
Town wards area including Anne 
of Cleves Road 
 
To report on the outcome of initial 
public consultation carried out in the 
West Hill/Town ward area being the 
first phase consultation on the DTC 
Parking Study carried out between 
11th July and 22nd August 2022. 
Report to also include results of the 
previous public consultation with 
local residents of Anne of Cleves 
Road carried out in April 2021. To 
develop, design and implement initial 
parking management schemes. 
 

Cabinet 
23 Feb 2023 
 

Public – letter drops and 
online – 11 July to 22 
August 2022. 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Revenue and Capital Budgets 
 
To set the overall level of General 
Fund and Housing Revenue Account 
revenue and capital expenditure for 
2023/34, to agree the level of 
Council Tax for Dartford Borough in 
its parished and unparished areas 
for 2023/24, to approve the Pay 
Policy Statement and to determine 
sundry related matters 
 

General Assembly 
of the Council 
(Budget) 
27 Feb 2023 
 

Public online 
consultation – 
December 2022 

 
 

Tim Sams, Financial Services 
Manager 
Tel: 01322 343148 
tim.sams@dartford.gov.uk 

OPEN 

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 14



 
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

14 March 2023  

DARTFORD PREVENTATIVE HEALTH PROJECTS - ANNUAL 
REPORT 2021/22 

 
 
1. Summary 
 
1.1  To update the Committee on the progress of the Dartford Preventative Health 

Projects, against the priorities identified in the Health Inequalities Action Plan, for 
the financial year 2021/22. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1  That the Committee note the outcomes and progress made on the Dartford 

Preventative Health Projects, for the financial year 2021/22, at Appendix A to 
the report. 

2.2    That the case studies at Appendix B to the report, be noted. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1. The Council has a vital role to play in contributing to reducing health 
inequalities and improving the health and wellbeing of its residents. 
Functions such as planning, housing, environmental health, leisure and 
community safety all have an impact on the health and wellbeing of 
local residents.  
 

3.2. The Council has been commissioned by Kent Public Health since 2008 
to deliver a range of preventative health projects as part of a continuing 
annual Service Level Agreement between the two bodies.  This work is 
monitored quarterly through outcome monitoring submissions to Kent 
County Council (Public Health).  The projects include healthy weight 
programmes and the promotion of mental wellbeing and community 
cohesion.   
 

3.3. A summary of the preventative health project outcomes achieved in 
2021/22 can be found in the Progress Report at Appendix A. Evidence 
and case studies can be found at Appendix B. These outcomes relate 
to the priorities identified within the Dartford Health Inequalities Action 
Plan.  
 

3.4. Local priorities were developed by the Dartford Health Inequalities 
Group partners to deliver against targeted actions to meet local needs.  
The Preventative Health Projects delivered by this Council form part of 
the Dartford Health Inequalities Action.   
 

3.5. The process of producing an updated copy of The Dartford Health 
Inequalities Action Plan in partnership with Kent Public Health’s 
objective’s for Dartford remains an outstanding action for both 
organisations.  This is as a consequence of other priorities, most 

Page 15 Agenda Item 8



 
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

14 March 2023  

notably the coronavirus pandemic. However, it is expected that the 
same/similar priorities against updated health data sets will continue to 
be the focus of any future plan.  Actions within the existing Action Plan 
therefore continue to be delivered and monitored. 
 

3.6. The Health Inequalities Action Plan sets out six overarching objectives 
to reduce health inequalities across the Borough.  The local priorities 
identified under each objective are: 

 
 Promote Healthy Weight for Children; 

 Support older people to keep them safe, independent and living 
fulfilled lives; 

 Support businesses to have healthy workplaces; 

 Provide the right support at the right time including financial and 
debt support;  

 Develop our communities to be healthy places; 

 Reduce the gap in health inequalities across the social gradients. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
 Health and Wellbeing is a corporate theme in the Plan. 
 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Financial Implications In 2021/22 Dartford Borough Council received 
£113,154.28 of Public Health funding to deliver 
preventative health work in the borough from 
Kent County Council.   

Legal Implications None  
Public Sector Equality 
Duty 

The Council, in delivering its services, must have 
regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty to 
ensure that no individual is discriminated against 
based on their sex, sexual orientation, marital 
status, pregnancy and maternity, gender 
reassignment, race, religion, belief, disability or 
age.  
 

Crime and Disorder Duty Not applicable 
Climate  Impact 
Assessment 

Not applicable 

Staffing Implications The arrangement with Sevenoaks District Council 
ended in December 2020 and the function is now 
managed within [Dartford] Council’s Community 

Page 16Agenda Item 8



 
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 

14 March 2023  

Development team. 
The Dartford Health Team Leader and One You 
Advisers are employed by the Council but 
externally funded by Kent County Council’s 
Public Health Directorate through an annual 
grant allocation for this Borough. 

Administrative Implications None  
Risk Assessment Failure to deliver against the service 

specifications set by Kent Public Health could 
result in the loss of budget and the termination of 
one or more of the funded projects. 

 
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable 
 
7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A - Dartford Health Inequalities Action Plan Progress Report 
(2021/22)  
 
Appendix B – Evidence and Case Studies 

 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
Dartford Health Inequalities 
Action Plan (2015-2018) 

 Kashmir Powar 
(01322) 343067 
 
 

Policy and 
Corporate Support 

N/A 

Page 17 Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



APPENDIX A

Page 1 of 23 

Dartford Health Inequalities Action Plan Progress Report (2021/22) 

Dartford OBJECTIVES DETAIL 
 

Local Priority: Promote Healthy Weight for Children 
Actions: 1. Support families to maintain a healthy weight. 

2. Improve local healthy weight care pathways. 

Objective 1: 
Give every child 
the best start in 
life Progress/ 

Outcomes: 
1. Support families to maintain a healthy weight  
 The Kent School Health team undertake the National Childhood Measurement Programme in 
Kent with all children in Reception class and Year 6. Following measurements, each child who 
has been measured as having a BMI over the 98th centile is contacted by our team of 
practitioners and offered a school health 'healthy lifestyles package of care'. This involves 
direct work with the parent to reduce portion sizes, make sugar swaps, increase physical 
activity and better understand food labels. Parents of early years foundation stage (EYFS) 
children are also asked to complete an online questionnaire called the Lancaster Model (TLM 
- Home – The Lancaster Model) which raises the issue of dental hygiene, healthy eating, 
physical activity and any restrictions to the family being active. 
 
In Year 6 every child is offered the opportunity to complete the TLM Health and Lifestyles 
questionnaire which includes questioning around healthy eating / physical activity and body 
image. If the child requires more support, the school health team can start a healthy weight 
package of care with the child and family.  Young people can again access this support via the 
universal health and lifestyle questionnaire (TLM) in years 10 and 12.  
 
Schools are kept up to date and reminded of the support school health can offer with quarterly 
newsletters and an annual partnership agreement. Schools are prompted to refer families who 
require additional healthy lifestyles support.  
 
School Health offer to attend transition assemblies' coffee mornings / drop-in meetings in 
schools to engage parents in school health support.   
 
School health attend local partnership group meetings, SENCO meetings and head teacher 
meetings to improve the visibility of the school health service. 

P
age 19

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A

Page 2 of 23 

Dartford OBJECTIVES DETAIL 
 

2.  Improve local healthy weight care pathways 
School Health have a dedicated team to undertake the National Child Measurement Program 
(NCMP) screening programme across Kent and an established way of sharing information 
about a child's height and weight with parents. This system was recently improved with the 
alteration of the letter sent to parents which has increased uptake of packages of care offered 
to parents. 

Issues:  

Local Priority: Partnership interventions to support older people to live independently  
Action: 1. Develop Alzheimer and Dementia Friendly Communities, also to provide services and 

activities to support sufferers and carers. 
2. Postural Stability Deliver effective local services for falls prevention and support individuals 

to improve self-management of long term conditions. 
3. Support Dartford’s Elders’ Forum. 
4. Disabled Facilities Grant and Discretionary Assistance Grants. 
5. The Collective Switching – Kent Energy Deal. 
6. Local Authority Flexible Eligibility Scheme. 

Objective 2:  
Support older 
people to keep 
them safe, 
Independent and 
living fulfilled lives 
 

Progress/ 
Outcomes: 

1. Dementia Friendly Communities 
Ongoing support for local Alzheimer and Dementia awareness support groups. Linking in with 
organisations, signposting individuals and carers requiring support. Also signposted 
organisations and business that require Training. 
Annual total of Dementia cafés users in Dartford 2021/22:  
 116 Individuals attended Dartford Memory Café throughout 2021/2022 (406 ‘places’ used) 
 20 Individuals attended Peer Support Group Dartford throughout 2021/2022 (170 ‘places’ 

used) 
 51 individuals attended Singing Back the Memories Dartford throughout 2021/2022 (349 

‘places’ used) 
 62 individuals attended Support Group Dartford throughout 2021/2022 (175 ‘places’ used) 
2. Postural Stability 
The Council has two Community based Postural Stability classes during the week at different 
locations in the Borough. These are funded from The Better Care Fund. 

P
age 20

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A

Page 3 of 23 

Dartford OBJECTIVES DETAIL 
 

The restart of these classes were delayed in 2021/22 due to Covid-19 restrictions. 
Face to Face Classes restarted on Monday the 6th September 2021 at Stone Pavilion. 
Appendix B Case Study Postural Stability  
During this period17 Sessions ran. 
The numbers of attendances this quarter were 158 
The total number of Female attendances were 146 
The total number of male attendances were 12 
The total number of attendees were 14 
Males attendees 1 
Female attendees 13  
 
3. Elders’ Forum 
Elders’ Forum has grown to become one of the most successful events of its kind in the South 
East targeted at the elderly.  The Elders’ Forum currently has 156 members on the system.   
May 2022 saw the opportunity to welcome back the Elders to their Forum meetings since the 
start of the pandemic early 2020. Sadly, attendance numbers have dwindled for a number of 
reasons. 
The agenda included informative presentations covering topics such as: 
 What’s On locally  
 Health Walks running in the borough 
 The Royal Family connections with Dartford 
 Programme of wellbeing activities offered by the Healthy Living Centre  
Approximately 100 members then enjoyed the opportunity to socialise over a special Jubilee 
lunch, and all left with a potted Lavender plant, a Jubilee mug and a slice of Jubilee cake, their 
free ‘Welcome Back’ gift. 
 
The Forum was repeated in November 2022, with a similar number in attendance who 
received information on  
 Community led walks 
 NHS Safeguarding/ ‘Who is your friend’ 

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A

Page 4 of 23 

Dartford OBJECTIVES DETAIL 
 

 Animal welfare in Dartford 
 Health Walks running in the borough 
 Christmas Events in Dartford 
 The much anticipated ‘Question Time’ which provides the opportunity to raise local issues 

with the Council Leader 
The meeting was finished off with a hot Christmas lunch 
The next Elders Forum meeting is planned for early March 2023 
 
 Examples of the topics presented in previous years were: 
 Kent Fire Authority – safety in the home.  
 NHS – integration of services consultation. 
 Solar heating – benefits/cost savings.     
 KCC – Adult social care. 
 NatWest Bank – banking fraud prevention. 
 Home adaptations and equipment in the home 
 
4. Disabled Facilities Grant  (DFG) And Discretionary Assistance Grants 
A DFG is a mandatory Grant limited to £30,000 towards the costs of providing adaptations 
and facilities which include access into and around the property and main rooms used by the 
disabled person. Disabled Facilities Grants and Discretionary Assistance Grants in place 
during 21/22.  There have been additional pressures on resources in recent years.  Still being 
covered by Private Sector Housing Team. 
Appendix B Table: 1 Disabled Facilities Grants and Discretionary Assistance Grant 
 
5. The Collective Switching – Kent Energy Deal 
The Council continues to offer the Collective Switching Scheme to its residents and in January 
2021 a direct mailshot was undertaken which was sent to every household in the Borough 
offering the scheme. Several thousand people applied and received their personal offers with 
the option of switching to a different provider and saving money on their utility bills.  The last 2 
schemes have come at very difficult times in relation to the energy crisis and the message at 
present is not to switch provider.  A focus for many months now has been to try to get as 

P
age 22

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A

Page 5 of 23 

Dartford OBJECTIVES DETAIL 
 

many properties thermally improved through the different schemes offered therefore saving 
money over a longer period of time.  
Further to the previous update no further Collective Switching Schemes have been offered 
and the message has continued to follow the advice of not switching providers.  The Council 
have continued a focus of fabric first measures on as many properties as the Council can fit 
through the Government funded schemes to thermally improve properties and save money on 
utility costs as a result of this therefore having a longer term impact. 
 
6 Local Authority Flexible Eligibility Scheme  
This Scheme was introduced under the ECO2 Government Programme.  The Council issued 
its first Statement of Intent (a requirement of LA Flex stating the eligibility criteria for Dartford) 
in July 2017.  The LA Flex focus is on people with a low income and whose health is impacted 
by living in a cold home.  It operated very differently from previous schemes where the focus 
has been on people in receipt of specific benefits and the Council have found LA Flex is 
reaching more vulnerable people. Following changes to ECO4 in 2022 a 
Revised Statement of Intent was issued which is on the Council’s website and new paperwork 
will follow as the details are provided by Government.   In Early 2018, the Dartford Safe and 
Secure Grant was developed using Better Care Funding – with a focus on criteria such as age 
and health condition. This means residents are also eligible for funding from the Safe and 
Secure Grant to top up the cost of a boiler replacement in addition to the LA Flex monies, 
which in most cases means the resident (if eligible) receives a boiler at no cost to themselves. 
The Dartford Statement of Intent was updated in tandem with changes to Energy Company 
Obligation (ECO) requirements and offers a really easy way to help and support vulnerable 
people on a low income and where the resident has a health issue which is impacted by living 
in a cold home.  In addition to the government funding available through LA Flex via ECO 
similar funding is also available towards energy efficiency measures for properties where 
residents are in receipt of specific benefits.  Insulation measures and replacement heating of 
broken boilers funding is available from ECO monies and in some cases i.e. replacement 
heating the funds are blended with Safe and Secure grant monies. In some cases the 
combination of grants fully funds heating for really vulnerable residents. 
 

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A

Page 6 of 23 

Dartford OBJECTIVES DETAIL 
 

Dartford as a local authority has been the lead authority for first time gas connections and first 
time central heating for suitable properties with eligible residents living in them.  Dartford has 
overseen the project not purely for Dartford residents but ensuring that the project is delivered 
in 6 other Kent LAs.  Through blending different pots of funding from Utilities, SGN and Warm 
Homes fund nearly 70 properties have received a free gas connection and first time central 
heating installed too at very little cost to the resident (if at all).  The last request for funding 
from Warm Homes Fund will be in May 2022. In addition a number of the properties received 
funded insulation measures too to improve the thermal efficiency of the property too.  The 
Project ran until July 2022 with all installs completed and funding from the different partners to 
ensure that Dartford BC was not out of pocket through delivering the project.  The measures 
installed under this 64 condensing boilers, 53 new gas connections, 26 Cavity Wall insulation 
and 8 loft insulation.  The total cost of these works account to £347,346.86 with funding from 
Affordable Warmth Solutions, SGN Central Heating Fund, ECO funds and individual local 
authority funding. 
 
In August 2020, the Council was successful in obtaining BEIS Green Home Grant Local 
Authority Delivery (LAD) phase 1a funding to provide grant funding towards External Wall 
Insulation and other energy efficiency low cost measures.  The Council received LAD1a 
funding which resulted in 10 owner occupied properties receiving External Wall Insulation, 
Cavity Wall and Loft Insulation measures.  This project closed for delivery in September 2021 
and run under very difficult COVID restrictions which impacted on the delivery.  
 
In December 2020, the Council also obtained BEIS LAD1b funding with delivery until 
September 2022.  
This project included a number of our own housing stock receiving External Wall Insulation 
(part funded) resulting in 77 properties having measures installed.  In addition, via the LA1b 
funding the Council have been delivering to owner occupied properties External Wall 
Insulation, Cavity Wall Insulation, Internal Wall Insulation and Loft Insulation to properties with 
low energy ratings and low income residents within. The figures of install under LAD1b owner 
occupied properties are:  27 External Wall Insulation, 39 Loft Insulation, 3 cavity wall, 2 
internal wall insulation.  All owner occupied property residents receiving the measures have to 

P
age 24

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A

Page 7 of 23 

Dartford OBJECTIVES DETAIL 
 

live in properties with a low Energy Performance Certificate rating and the resident either has 
to be in receipt of specific benefits or on a low income below £30,000.  Many residents also 
had health issues impacted by living in a cold home. The funding received for this project was 
£1.1 million.   At present we have installed 30 measures with many more in the pipeline.  The 
LAD1b phase finished in August 2022. 
 
In April 2022, the Council obtain some LAD2 funding from the local Net Zero Hub to deliver 
more energy efficiency measures by September 2022.  Many of the properties that had 
measures installed under this came from the existing residents already engaged in the 
previous LAD schemes.  The measures installed in owner occupied properties through this 
project which ran in tandem with LAD1b : 17 External Wall Insulation, 16 Loft Insulation, 9 
Cavity Wall, 1 Internal Wall Insulation, 5 Solar PV, 4 Flat Roof Insulation. This project closed 
in September 2022 and the funding received for this project was £660,763. 
 
The residents didn’t need to pay for the measures installed under the LAD projects.  
For all these schemes although we are thermally improving the property and reducing the 
domestic carbon emissions in the Borough the resident will see a reduction in their utility bills 
and also be living in a warmer home which for many is a real bonus as their health was being 
impacted by living in a cold home.  
 
The Council also applied for additional Household Support Fund monies to help towards 
replacement boilers in homes where there was no hot water/heating due to boiler being 
beyond repair on being very old.  The funding received over 2 Household Support Fund 
allocations have been £60,000 and a number of properties with older people or young families 
have benefited from replacement boilers. 

Issues: As a consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic, the restart of face to face delivery of the 
Postural Stability Classes were delayed until 6th September 2021. 
Exercise leaflets and resistance bands were posted out to all attendees from the classes via 
the falls Instructor during period of no delivery. 

Objective 3:  Local Priority: Support businesses to have healthy workplaces 

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A

Page 8 of 23 

Dartford OBJECTIVES DETAIL 
 

Action: 1. Support Kent Healthy Businesses Award Scheme to increase the number of local 
businesses taking part. Ensure businesses and workplaces are safe.  

2. Reduce the smoking prevalence among routine and manual workers. 

Create fair 
employment & 
good work for all 

Progress/ 
Outcomes: 

1. Dartford Kent Healthy Business Award Scheme 
The Council celebrated Dartford’s ‘Covid heroes’ at a special Dartford Business Awards 
ceremony held at Bluewater in October 2022. 
Special guest Falklands War hero Simon Weston CBE presented awards to a range of 
organisations and frontline workers, reflecting the efforts they made to keep Dartford running 
as the pandemic swept the world. They included an award to the caring professions, to 
schools and teachers, the transport sector and the retail sector. 
Regular business awards were also presented including categories such as Best Owner 
Managed Business, Young Person of the Year and Shop of the Year.   
 Dartford Borough Council Staff Kent & Medway Healthy Workplaces Awards  
The Council’s Health Team Lead, the staff Health & Wellbeing group and the  HR team held 
Staff Health and Wellbeing initiatives throughout the year. Demonstrating and Promoting a 
proactive approach to supporting health and wellbeing across the organisation.  
These initiatives worked towards obtaining the following Kent & Medway Healthy Workplaces 
Awards; 
 Kent & Medway Healthy Workplaces Bronze Award Scheme In August 21  
 Kent & Kent & Medway Healthy Workplaces Silver Award Scheme May 2022  
 Kent & Medway Healthy Workplaces Gold Award Scheme In June2022  
 
 
2. Smoking Prevalence in Dartford 
The Council’s Health Team Lead has worked closely with KCHFT to collect data for The 
Dartford Health Inequalities Action plan. They report on figures relating to the objective 
Reduce the smoking prevalence among routine and manual workers.  A Collaborative working 
partnership ensures that the Council’s One You Kent team make referrals into the KCHFT 
Stop Smoking Service. 
KCHFT Reduce the smoking prevalence among routine and manual (RTM) workers 
 196 Number of quits (clients living in Dartford) per financial year (1/4/20 – 31/3/21)   

P
age 26

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A

Page 9 of 23 

Dartford OBJECTIVES DETAIL 
 

 46 of these that were from Routine and manual workers (which equates to 23% of total 
quits in Dartford) 

Issues: During 2020/21 due to Covid-19 no face to face appointments events took place.   
During 2021/22 Clients were offered a choice of either face to face, telephone or Video 
appointments. 

Local Priority: Provide the right support at the right time including financial & debt support.  
Action:  Citizens Advice Bureau.  
Progress/ 
Outcomes: 
 

1. Citizens Advice Bureau North and West Kent   
A long standing Service Level Agreement with a support grant. Uptake of support from the 
Citizens Advice Bureau North and West Kent:  
Additional funding through a grant service level agreement, administered by the Leisure and 
Communities Officer, to deliver Winter Support Grant (Set up an appropriate, auditable and 
robust mechanism e.g. direct purchasing of shopping, supermarket vouchers, electric key top 
ups): Feb-May 2021 = £10,000 to support those in the community most in need. 84 unique 
clients helped (families with children//families without children/individuals. An estimated split of 
70% families with children, 30% families/individuals without children)  
•   2,310 Clients were provided with advice and support. These clients were supported with 
9,153 Clients separate issues. 
 The Citizens Advice Bureau supported 886 clients with a total of 2,808 benefits issues.  
 The Citizens Advice Bureau achieved over £588,000 in benefits income gain for our 

vulnerable clients. 
 The Citizens Advice Bureau supported 390 clients with a total of 1,785 debt issues.  
 The Citizens Advice Bureau achieved over £70,000 in debts written off and over £20,000 

in rescheduled repayments for our debt clients. 

Objective 4: 
Ensure healthy 
standards of living 
for all 

Issues: Due to Covid 19, Citizens Advice Bureau North and West Kent, closed their offices for drop in 
and face to face advice. However, additional systems were put in place for telephone and 
online enquiries. 

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A

Page 10 of 23 

Dartford OBJECTIVES DETAIL 
 

The 2,310 cases supported had an average of 3.96 issues each.   

The complexity of cases increased.  For example, if someone comes to us for support with a 
housing crisis, they very often also have benefits issues etc. 
 
Fuel Poverty has been an issue that the Council has worked through in much of the Energy 
Efficiency works.  All schemes now work to guidelines of properties with low Energy 
Performance ratings and vulnerable low income people living in the properties. 

It is a real concern with the current energy crisis and more people will be impacted with 
increasing utility costs.  This added to uncertainty around Utility Company Sustainability is an 
added issue to with many people being moved to a new Utility provider if their existing 
provider has gone in to administration.  Dartford BC is working as hard as possible in do fabric 
first measures in as many properties as possible 
The Environmental Promotions and Climate Change Officer is currently working to ensure the  
Council can help as many of the people we come in to direct contact with through offering fuel 
vouchers or help towards new boiler costs along with obtaining as much government funding 
to help towards energy efficiency and decarbonisation measures in peoples properties. Much 
of this funding is seen as part of Green Recovery Funding 

Local Priority: Develop our communities to be healthy places  
Action: 1. Provide and promote opportunities for sport, leisure and active recreation.  

2. Develop parks, green spaces, and public rights of way.  
3. Ensure development in the borough provides a good quality of life and creates the 

conditions for communities to flourish. (Salute To Youth Grants.) 
4. Effective partnership working in with GPs, KCHFT, schools, MIND, Charities 

Objective 5:  
Create & develop 
healthy 
sustainable places 
& communities 

Progress/ 
Outcomes: 

1. Provide and Promote Sport, Leisure and Active Recreation.  

 Set up initiatives for a healthy, happier Dartford. 
 Co-ordination and expansion of GP exercise referral scheme in the Borough. 
 Implementation of Dartford Core Strategy - part of the Local Development Framework. 

P
age 28

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A

Page 11 of 23 

Dartford OBJECTIVES DETAIL 
 

 Improved facilities and activities in parks and open spaces. 
 Supporting communities to enhance, look after, be actively involved in and access their 

local green spaces e.g. environmental projects or ‘Friends of’ groups. 
 Deliver a programme of activities and events to increase accessibility e.g. educational and 

health walks across the Borough, e.g. Naturally Active Project. 
Fairfield Overview for 2021/2022 
 Fairfield Leisure’s 6th full year of operation under Places Leisure. Re-opened Monday 12th  
April 2021. 
 
Fairfield received an upgrade to their cycle studio in which 20 brand new Stages bikes were 
installed.  
Fairfield received funding to deliver the re connect programming, including providing free Junior 
Gym. 
Sessions, play & bounce and swimming.   
Fairfield received funding to deliver a 12-month Parkinson’s exercise intervention in partnership 
with Stroke UK.  
 
Fairfield installed new pool LED lighting to combat energy consumption & savings.  

Figures total for April 2021 to March 2022: 

Gym visits: Apr 5830/ May 9217/ Jun 9017/ Jul 8049/ Aug 10172/ Sep 9982/ Oct 6823/ Nov 
6519/ Dec 4666/Jan 8387/ Feb 8142/ Mar 8736  

Group workout visits (including virtual): Apr 691/ May 1597/ Jun 2597/ Jul 2854/ Aug 
6141/ Sep 5399/ Oct 2617/ Nov 2668/ Dec 2067/ Jan 3235/ Feb 3292/ Mar 3771 

2. Develop parks, green spaces, and public rights of way 2021/2022 
Using Spatial Environment planning in the promotion of healthy environments and active 
travel – the Council continues to provide inclusive playgrounds and facilities in parks and open 
spaces to encourage public usage.  

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A

Page 12 of 23 

Dartford OBJECTIVES DETAIL 
 

The Council has committed significant financial resources to its playgrounds, and a number of 
playground refurbishments have been carried out as well as others currently in progress or 
planned for the coming year including a major refurbishment of the playground in Central 
Park, which is due to open to the public in March.  
A new outdoor gym has been installed in Central Park replacing the old outdated equipment 
and a brand new facility installed at Worcester Park in Greenhithe, to encourage healthy 
environments.  
In addition to the refurbishments, the Council continues to liaise with our contractor in terms of 
carrying out ongoing inspection and repairs etc. to existing playgrounds where required.  
the Council’s Parks Department also continue to carry out ongoing maintenance and 
regeneration works to valuable habitats and environments including Dartford Heath, Darenth 
Country Park and Darenth Woods, ensuring that they are accessible to be enjoyed by all who 
wish to do so. 

Parkrun 
Parkruns are free, weekly, community events all around the world. Saturday morning events 
are 5k and take place in parks and open spaces. On Sunday mornings, there are 2k junior 
parkruns for children aged four to 14.There are three Parkruns in Dartford, Central 
Park/Heath/Junior Central Park which the Council funded and allow to take place on our land 
Ebbsfleet 
The Council’s Leisure and Communities Officer, Planning Dept. and Health Team Lead sit on 
the Active Ebbsfleet Forum. The Council‘s team has made a contribution to the development 
of the Landmark Leisure Facility and Outdoor Pursuits Centre. 
 

3. Ensure development in the borough provides a good quality of life and creates the  
conditions for communities to flourish - Dartford Borough Council Community  

Grants/Salute To Youth  

P
age 30

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A

Page 13 of 23 

Dartford OBJECTIVES DETAIL 
 

 Through the Council’s Salute to Youth, 9 organisations/individuals were successful in 
receiving a share of £23,250 which met the category ‘Provide and promote opportunities 
for sport, leisure and active recreation.’ 

Kent Active Partnership 
The Council is a partner within Active Kent and Medway (AKM) www.activekent.org which 
delivers a range of projects and manages a number of funding streams to help achieve the 
mission of ‘improving lives through sport and physical activity’.  AKM receives some financial 
support from Sport England to deliver their 10 year strategy ‘Uniting the Movement’ and is 
hosted by Kent County Council.  This report outlines the main funding streams administered 
by Active Kent and Medway which have benefited clubs, community organisations and 
individuals in Dartford in 2021-22 with a total value of £68,672, for an annual contribution of 
£3,000, administered by the Leisure and Communities Officer.   
 
 Coach & Officials bursaries fund to assist coaches, instructors and officials to attend 

training and courses, to help them develop the right skills to support more people to 
become active and to achieve their potential. 

  Two grants were awarded to Dartford Clubs to the value of £313. 
 Contain the Outbreak Fund AKM enabled community groups to access funding to 

support targeted audiences (Lower Socio-Economic Groups, People from Ethnically 
Diverse 

 Communities, Disabled People and People with Long-Term Health Conditions ) to engage 
with their communities and help them to be active.  

  Four grants were awarded in Dartford to the value of £23,497  
 
 Everyday Active Small Grants up to £500 available to clubs and organisations to deliver 

projects including new sports and physical activities, festivals, events, launches or 
celebrations which encouraging local people to be physically active. 

 Four of these grants were allocated to organisations in Dartford, to the value of 
£1,870. 

 

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 8

http://www.activekent.org/


APPENDIX A

Page 14 of 23 

Dartford OBJECTIVES DETAIL 
 

 FANS small grant awarded to talented athletes to support their development. 
  One grant awarded to the value of £200.  
 In addition, the Free Access to National Sports People scheme (FANS) which enables 

talented athletes to free access to facilities, including three centres in Dartford.  
 
 Opening School Facilities – funding was made available from the Department for 

Education to support schools in areas of deprivation to provide facilities outside of normal 
school hours to provide sports and physical activities to the students and the local 
community. The funding contributed to purchase of equipment and coaches. 

 Three schools were awarded funding to the value of £24,712. 
 
 Active Travel – AKM facilitated funding from the Department for Transport, via Kent 

County Council, to encourage targeted groups to take up cycling.  
 Two projects were funded in Dartford to the value of 10,000 
 
 Positive Activities for Young People – funding was available to support clubs to deliver 

activities in schools for young people who were not regularly active. The activities were 
chosen by the young people and resulted in an increase in their levels of activity.   

 Four projects were funded in Dartford to the value of £8,080  
 
 The PE and Sport Premium Funding is designed to help children get an active start in 

life, supporting primary schools to improve the quality of their PE, physical activity and 
school sport provision. AKM provides support, guidance and advice to primary schools to 
enable their students to achieve 60 mins. a day of moderate intensity activity, as 
recommended by the Chief Medical Officer. Primary Schools in Dartford received an 
average of: 

  £18,000 per year, funded by the Department for Education. 
 
 The Daily Mile, is a free activity available to all schools which sees children run at their own 

pace, for 15 minutes a day, three days a week in order to improve their Physical, Mental, 
and Social Health. 

P
age 32

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A

Page 15 of 23 

Dartford OBJECTIVES DETAIL 
 

  21 Dartford Schools were registered in 2021-22. 
 
Everyday Active –AKM work with a wide range of partners, including the Health Lead for 
Dartford Council, to provide training and advice to health professionals and organisations who 
support people who are not currently physically active. The purpose is to increase 
understanding of the wider benefits of physical activity the opportunities to be active and 
provide resources to support health professionals, social prescribers etc. to encourage their 
clients to be active. www.everydayactivekent.org.uk 
 
In addition, AKM has supported organisations to receive other funding including the 
Reconnect grants and links into the Holiday Activities Fund, which are not listed above.  It is 
worth noting that it was a record year for funding, with additional grants available from Sport 
England, KCC and the Department for Education however, whilst some funds have ended, the 
Council will continue to support organisations to identify alternative sources. 
 
Appendix B Table 2: Grants awarded to organisations in Dartford during 2021-22 
managed through Active Kent and Medway (previously known as Kent Sport) 
 
4. Effective partnership Working - GP’s,  KCHFT, Schools, MIND, Charities 
The Council’s One You Kent Team continue to work with key partners within the borough to 
highlight key health promotional messages. 
The Council’s One You Kent Advisors use the Smoothie bike as an engagement tool to 
signpost and promote NHS Health Checks and health initiatives in the Borough. 

Issues: During 2021/22 due to Covid-19 the Dartford Festival did not take place.  

Local Priority: Reduce the gap in health inequalities across social gradients  Objective 6:  
Strengthen the 
role and impact of 

Action: 1. Focus on improving the health of those at the bottom of the social gradient at the fastest 
rate. 

2. Deliver services and promote the benefits of a healthy diet and active lifestyle to reduce 
obesity and related co-morbidities. 

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 8

http://www.everydayactivekent.org.uk/


APPENDIX A

Page 16 of 23 

Dartford OBJECTIVES DETAIL 
 

3. Promote sensible drinking and ensure treatment services are accessible for all. ill health 
prevention  Progress/ 

Outcomes: 
 One You Kent integrated Adult Healthy Lifestyle Service - Commissioned by KCC 

Public Health  
The One You Kent Integrated Adult Healthy Lifestyle Service moved away from separately 
commissioned services which focused on individual lifestyle behaviours such as being 
overweight and smoking. The result is that this form of delivery of the integrated service 
focuses on: Losing weight, getting fitter, stop smoking, alcohol consumption, improving mental 
wellbeing, housing, and debt advice.  
This has created greater collaborative working streams with key partners to deliver shared 
goals. This has allowed us as partners to develop a personalised approach that supports 
individuals with complex needs, and address the barriers preventing people to making positive 
lifestyle choices.  
The Council’s Health Team Lead Linked in key partners, on the Social Prescribing Networking 
meetings held By DGS CCG, to update on what support was available to the most vulnerable. 
Mental health and social isolation issues were identified, by partners as a key issues for 
residents. 
 
The Council’s Health Team Lead linked in with the Comms team to ensure that the Public 
Health information was placed on the Council’s website pages. 
 
May 2021 1:1 Remote Support  
Microsoft Teams was the preferred, secure digital platform used by the Council OYK advisors 
to deliver 1:1 support for clients.  There was a low uptake of this service. Many did not have 
access to a computer.  Most preferred to be contacted by telephone.  
Advisors provided face to face appointments as soon as social distancing restrictions were 
lifted, to provide optimum help and support to those that needed it.  
 
The One You Kent Service saw a big increase in referrals into the service throughout the 
year.  Many of these referrals were from Quintiles 1 and 2 and were linked to areas of 
deprivation in Dartford.  

P
age 34

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A

Page 17 of 23 

Dartford OBJECTIVES DETAIL 
 

Many of these referrals presented a range of complex issues such as: weight gain due to 
comfort eating and lack of exercise, mental health, financial problems and isolation. These 
referrals were directly linked to or exacerbated by Covid-19 and the lockdown period.  
Advisors found supporting clients more complex, challenging and time consuming than usual. 
 
Advisors also saw an increase in people with Learning disabilities engaging in the service. In 
particular those that needed support for weight Loss.  This trend has continued into 
2022/2023.  
 
Number of Referrals Into the One You Kent Service 
 590 Total number of  Referrals Received 
 268 of these were from the most deprived areas in Dartford - Quintiles 1 and 2  
 306 of the 590 Referrals qualified and needed support for Tier 2 weight loss support 
 70 of the  590 wanted Life Style support 
 214 of the above total would have been triaged to a supporting services such as   Mind/ 

Porchlight for help and support with mental wellbeing, Stop Smoking Service, Change 
Grow Live (Alcohol Service) Housing and CAB for debt advice.  

 Appendix B Case Studies One You Kent Service. 
 
 Why Weight - Adult Weight Management 
The programme is a 12 week course, delivered by nutritionists and exercise specialists across 
the Dartford Borough.  Each weekly session comprises of an hour’s group discussion around 
a specific topic (food labelling, food content etc.) and an hour’s gentle exercise class.  The 
aim of the adult weight management service specification is to sustain a long term movement 
towards and maintenance of 5-10% body weight loss amongst overweight or obese adults. 
 
In quarter one due to the on-going social distancing restrictions The One You Kent team 
delivered an On-line Weight loss group via the digital platform of Microsoft Teams. 
There was a low uptake of this service. Many individuals did not have access to a computer.  
Most wanted to wait until a face to face weight loss groups were available. 

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A

Page 18 of 23 

Dartford OBJECTIVES DETAIL 
 

 
All Face to Face weight loss groups resumed in quarter 2/3 September 2022 
   
 5  Adult healthy weight programmes were delivered  
 (1 x on-line in Quarter1) ( 2xface to face Quarter2)  (2xface to face in Quarter 4) 
 48 Participants engaged in the programmes 
 44 People lost Weight  
 27 Individuals identified were from - Quintiles 1&2   
Appendix B Case studies from participants of the Why Weight.  
 
Get Active Community Exercise Classes 
The Get Active For a Healthier Happier Dartford project was originally based on findings of a 
social marketing project which was undertaken in the Borough in 2009.  The overall aim of the 
project is to increase the residents’ knowledge of physical activity opportunities in the borough 
by promoting free and low cost opportunities.  
The Council’s Health Team lead obtains additional funding from Kent & Medway Active Fund 
to deliver the exercise sessions.  

The Council started using Zoom as a digital platform to deliver the Get Active Exercise 
classes when face to face classes stopped due to Covid-19. The classes were offered FREE 
to clients coming through the One You Kent service who were struggling mentally and 
physically.  Classes ran well. The feedback from individuals was positive. Facebook and 
social media coverage were used to promote the classes. 

Delivery of Face to Face Get Active Community Exercise Classes. Restarted in September 
2022 
On-line Free Get Active Community Exercise Classes 
 71  Online Free Community Classes delivered   
 770 Attendances. 
 27   Attendees.  

P
age 36

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A

Page 19 of 23 

Dartford OBJECTIVES DETAIL 
 

Appendix B Case studies And Testimonies For The Get Active Community Exercise 
Classes.  
 
 7 Health walks officially resumed in October 2022 
Dartford Health Walk programme is an accredited scheme which is part of the national Walking 
For Health initiative (WFH).  It began in February 2010 and now consists of seven walks.  The 
walks are all run by volunteers. The health walks have a strong relationship with the local mental 
health charities and receive referrals. 
The Council’s Health walks resumed in October 22 in Quarter 3.  
All Health walks were Risk Assessed. All Volunteers have received the updated Ramblers training.  
The OYK Team lead applied and received additional Funding via the Kent Sport Tackling Health 
Inequalities Fund to generate interest and awareness of the health walks.  
This funding has allowed the Council to run promotional walking activities and events. This has 
resulted in an increase in walk attendances and more importantly, the recruitment volunteer walk 
leaders.  
 
Promotional events included: 
 
Wednesday 20th October 2021 Health Walk & Talk Event Visit to St Margaret’s Church 
Darenth  
 20 People Attended 

Tuesday 30th November 2021 Pre-Christmas Walk & Talk - Get Together   
 31 People Attended 
 
Thursday 6th December 21 Walk Leaders Christmas Meal  
 10 Walk leader met up a walk followed by a Christmas meal. 
 
Wednesday 16th Feb 2022 Walk Leader Get Together 
Event to bring all Health walk leaders together to promote and increase the number of Health 
walks and walk volunteers’.  
 3 New Walk Leaders were recruited as a direct result of this event. 

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A

Page 20 of 23 

Dartford OBJECTIVES DETAIL 
 

 
Thursday 17th Feb 2022 Walk & Talk Event to a local Church in Dartford St Margaret’s 
Church Darenth 
 30 People Attended this walk 

29th March 2022 Walk Leader Training  
 3 New volunteer walk leaders were training to help support on the Council’s walks. 
The long term view is to set up new health walks   
 
Health Walk Outcomes 
187 Health Walks Delivered 
1260 Attendances 
 
 Health Inequalities Group (HIG) 
The members of the HIG have continued to increase. This allows the Council and the One 
You Kent Advisors to have good networking links with numerous organisations to help 
promote and support each other.  

 20 Key local partners from a range of Voluntary sectors and community groups are a 
major part of the HIG.  

 Links are made with our key partners such as GP surgeries. Promoting programmes to 
enable referrals to be made. Flyers and leaflets displayed in prominent areas in surgeries    
have proved to be very successful in targeting different groups of individuals. 

 Information about all our programmes are also shared with other key partners and health 
professionals across the district. These include KCHFT and the NHS Health Check Team. 

 The Libraries in Dartford are a key focal point for locals to access information about the 
programmes and events currently running in the Borough. These are places that the 
Council has often supported MIND on World Mental Health Awareness days.  

P
age 38

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A

Page 21 of 23 

Dartford OBJECTIVES DETAIL 
 

 The Healthy Living Centre based in the community of Dartford, is in an ideal location for 
further promotional activity.  This allows the Council and HLC to promote and target 
different groups. 

 Health Inequalities meetings did not take place during 2021/2022 
 Priorities were focused upon strengthening partnership working with key partners, such as 

those listed below, to ensure those most vulnerable were supported and triaged to the 
appropriate organisations.  

   
 Meetings Attended By The Council’s Health Team Lead to Encourage Collaborative 

Partnership Work  
  
 Meetings With PepperCorns  to discuss working with People with Learning Disabilities 
 Black History Month Safer Communities Alliance (SCA) 
 DGS Local Mental Health Network  
 Women of Faith Group. 
 Listening Project - Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health Network  
 DHV Vague and indeterminate symptoms Clinic (VISS) 
 DGS ICP Local Care Delivery Group Meeting 
 System Wide Frailty Network Update 
 Meetings with  Ecology with North Kent Countryside Partnership 
 A Whole Systems Approach to a Healthy Kent - DGS Sub Group Healthy Community 

Alliance 
 Local Children’s Partnership Group Meeting 
 Local Children’s Partnership Group Meeting Grant Funding Panel  
 Dartford–Local Health Priorities   
 Meetings With CAB  
 Ebbsfleet EDC Partnership Meeting  
 DGS Social Prescribing Network Meeting  
 Meetings with Fairfield Leisure Centre – Lead on Exercise Referral Scheme. 
 Better Mental Health Network Meetings 

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A

Page 22 of 23 

Dartford OBJECTIVES DETAIL 
 

 West Kent & Dartford Health Inequalities: Partnership Meetings 
  Fairfield Leisure Centre Wellness programmes 
Health and Wellness programme at Fairfield Leisure Centre Supporting individuals to improve 
self-management of long term conditions.  This is facilitated through a 12 week health and 
wellbeing programme run by specialists Level 4 Instructors. They work on a variety of health 
conditions, offering supervised gym sessions. The Health Matters Programme Supports 
individuals to improve self-management of long term conditions. 
 

Issues: Covid 19 guidelines had a major impact on all scheduled commissioned projects. 
 
Delivery of the Face to Face Life style support and Weight loss groups were put on hold 
 
The number of referrals requesting face to face support for both life style support and weight 
loss increased.  However, there were high numbers of referrals received from people with 
underlying health issues such as diabetes, asthma and hypertension which, conflicted with 
government guidelines around social distancing. 
 Digital Delivery of the weight loss groups resulted in low levels of uptake and engagement. 
This remote platform of delivery, not accessible for everyone, created further barriers for those 
people that needed the most support. 
 
Digital Delivery also presented a number of issues for advisors. Additional staff time was 
spent chasing individuals to complete initial start-up forms.  This continued throughout the 
course with clients not sending in their weekly weights and waist measurements.  
This resulting in delays in collating of data. 
Instructors encountered situations where some clients dominated and interrupted the dialogue 
during the on-course affecting the smooth delivery of the course. 
 
Feedback from individuals who turned down starting the digital Weight loss programme were 
as follows: 
 Did not have access to a computer to engage in the programme. 
 Wanted face to face group support after the isolation created by lockdown. 

P
age 40

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A

Page 23 of 23 

Dartford OBJECTIVES DETAIL 
 

 Did not have access to scales to weigh themselves each week. 
 Individuals were not confident to report on their weight and waist measurements on a 

weekly basis. 
 
All the individuals that turned down the course were happy to be placed a on a waiting until 
face to face group work resumed in September 2021.  
 
However, this has created a backlog of referrals for 2022. 
As a direct result In 2022/2023 The One You Kent team will be running additional weight loss 
groups to deal with the build-up of referrals. This will need addition funding 
 
Funding  
Working in areas of deprivation with greater social inequalities can present its own challenges. 
Bridging that gap requires considerably more resources in the form of time and greater 
financial expenditure. 
One of the greatest challenges highlighted by advisors supporting clients are the low numbers 
of people self-reporting and declaring they have mental health issues, Learning Disabilities 
and learning Difficulties.  
Clients with poor literacy levels presenting co-morbidities inevitably require more support.  
Advisors adapt the one to one support sessions as well as group sessions to accommodate 
and support these individuals. 
 
This is an issue that has constantly been raised with Office For Tackling Health Improvement 
And Disparities (OHID) formally Public Health, in terms of additional funding needed in areas 
of deprivation.  

P
age 41

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 42



   Appendix B 

Objective 2: Support older people to keep them safe, independent and living 
fulfilled lives 

Dartford Borough Council has recognised the importance of this well-established 
group currently running in Dartford led by it.  The decision was therefore made that 
because this group was in areas of deprivation, within walking distance for many of its 
participants and, already had a strong sense of community cohesion, the Council 
would continue to fund and run this project for another year.   

During the lockdown period the Councils ‘Falls’ instructor maintained contact with 
group members to ensure they were safe. She sent out exercise plans and resistance 
bands to allow them to continue to exercising independently. 

Case Study: Postural Stability  

QTR: 1   Advisor: KP & JB  

Age: 83   Sex: Female     

Quintile: 1 

Disability:  Mobility Issues -Very unsteady on her feet 

Employment status: Retired  

Ethnicity: White British 

Referred Phoned Dartford Borough Council for information to join a Falls Prevention 
Class  

Overview – brief summary of the Case  

Mrs W explained that she lives alone and had not been out during the Covid period.  
She mentioned she was feeling very isolated and lonely.  She wanted to join a group 
that would give her some interaction with others but, explained her was feeling 
anxious and had mobility issues. 

She was very reluctant to give all her details and sign up to the OYK service. 

She was given details about the falls prevention group. But was very nervous about 
attending. 

Outcomes 

The Falls prevention instructor, called Mrs W and arranged for her to attend a taster 
session. Mrs W joined the falls class and is now a regular attendee. 

She has expressed how much she enjoys the class and how everyone in the group 
is so supportive to one another. “Thank you so much for helping me”. 

 

Page 43 Agenda Item 8



 

Table: 1 Disabled Facilities Grants and Discretionary Assistance Grant 

Grant Number Paid Installed 

Discretionary 
Assistance Grant 

54 Grants £352166.73  
 

29 X Flush Floor 
Showers 

18 X Stair Lifts  

1 X Bio Bidet 

1 X Shower Pod 

1 X Through Floor 
Lift 

1 X Wash Dry WC 

2 X Ramps  

1X Step Lifts 

Disabled Facilities 
Grants 

3 Grants £19535.13 1 X Flush Floor 
Shower 

1 X Wash dry toilet 

1 x Non- climbing 
Fencing 

Hospital Discharge 
Grants 

9 Grants   

Safe and Secure 
Grants 
 

31 Grants   

     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44Agenda Item 8



 
Objective 5: Create & develop healthy sustainable places & communities  

 
 Table 2: Grants awarded to organisations in Dartford during 2021-22 managed 
through Active Kent and Medway (previously known as Kent Sport) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Dartford
Coach, Officials Bursaries Amount
Dartford Volleyball Club Level 2 Volleyball coaching award 225£      
Dartford Bridge Badminton Club Badminton Level 1 Coaching Assistant 88£         
Contain the Outbreak Fund - KCC
Darford BC Health walks 6,000£   
Wellbeing Link Seated Yoga 5,661£   
All Shades of Life MMA sessions 4,000£   
Alzheimer's & Dementia Support Services Various activity sessions. 7,836£   
Everyday Active Small Grant
Betsham Cricket Club Festival event to attract new players and create a second team.  £        470 
Central Park Athletics Purchase of equipment and running trail  £        405 
Dartford RFC Four fun festival/taster days to encourage more girls to play  £        495 
North Kent MIND Walking football at the men's mental health group at Dartford Football Club.  £        500 
FANS small grant - talented athletes
Charlotte Jenman Judo  £        200 
Opening School Facilities
Orchards Academy Equipment and multi-sport activities to encourage return to afterschool clubs 8,469£   
Longfield Academy Equipment and multi-sport activities to encourage return to afterschool clubs 7,847£   
Brent Primary (Swimming Pool) Catch up swimming sessions afterschool and community sessions for women 8,396£   
Active Travel - KCC 
Take Pride for Rowhill SEND school Learn to ride for SEND students and upskill staff 5,148£   
Dartford HLC Wobblers and Wibblers project - leader training, purchase bikes and equipment 4,852£   
Positive Activities for Young People
Milestone Academy Weekly extra curricular boxing club 2,040£   
Willmington Academy Weekly extra curricular table tennis, dodgeball & boxing clubs. 2,000£   
Dartford Science and Technology College Weekly extra curricular cheerleading, tennis, gym & fitness clubs 2,040£   
The Ebbsfleet Academy Weekly extra curricular dance & football clubs 2,000£   

Total 68,672£

Page 45 Agenda Item 8



Objective 6: Strengthen the role and impact of ill health prevention 

 

Case Studies The  One You Kent Service 
 
Case Study 1   One You Kent Service 
QTR: 1   Face to Face support Advisor: KP & JM & AE  

Age: 56   Sex: Male     

Quintile: 5 

Disability:  none  

Employment status: Retired  

Ethnicity: White British 

Referred/Self-Referral  

Overview – brief summary of the Case  

Mr T had had an operation on his stomach and was awaiting post operational dietary 
support via his GP. 

After he wasn’t contacted he decided to make a self-referral into the OYK service. 

 Outcomes 

The OYK team contacted his GP and a referral for the DVH dietetics team followed. 

In the interim the OYK team supported with 1:1 post operation dietary support. 
Leaflets via the British Heart Foundation were given and a low fibre was discussed. 

Mr T wrote an email to thank the OYK team and mentioned how pleased and 
supported he felt by the OYK team. 

He subsequently trained up to become a Walk volunteer for the One You Kent. 

He now leads a health walk, for Dartford Borough Council at Peppercorns Centre for 
people with Learning Disabilities. 

He is actively involved in recruiting new walk volunteers  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 46Agenda Item 8



Case Study 2   One You Kent Service 
QTR: 4   Support via Telephone Advisor: AE & KP  

Age: 56   Sex: Male     

Quintile: 2 

Disability:  Multiple health issues 

Employment status: Unemployed released from prison  

Ethnicity: White British 

Referred/Self-Referral (Late Friday afternoon) 

Overview – brief summary of the Case  

Mr L was living in a hostel he was concerned about his personal safety, money, his 
mental health.   He was also drinking. 

He mentioned he was feeling anxious and was finding it hard to access key services. 

AE spoke to Mr L initially to assess his issues; initially a referral was made to CGL 
for drinking and also to housing to be able to look at his housing issues. KP linked 
with the priest at St Albans church to arrange a delivery of food for the weekend and 
then helped by getting Mr L a hardship payment.  

Outcomes 

Mr L was extremely grateful and relieved by the help that OYK provided.   

AE linked in with Mr L on a weekly basis. 

Mr L was subsequently relocated to Folkestone.  

AE arranged for the transferral of the case to the Folkestone area as well as the CGL 
referral.  

Case Study 3   One You Kent Service 
QTR: 1   Face to Face support Advisor: KP  

Age: 75   Sex: Male     

Quintile: 2 

Disability:  none  

Employment status: Retired  

Ethnicity: White British 

Referred/Self-Referral  

Page 47 Agenda Item 8



Overview – brief summary of the Case  

Mr M has been a volunteer walk leader for a number of years. 

He is a very private and reserved man. 

He approached advisors and asked for support in 2021 

He is the sole carer for his wife who is disabled. 

He was struggling to care for his disabled wife and could not lift her in and out of the 
bath. 

Outcomes 

The OYK team contacted the housing team for support via the Disabled Facilities 
Grants and Discretionary Assistance Grant. 

A bath lift was installed. 

A year later Mr M came back to the OYK team and asked for support for his wife 
who, was been discharged from hospital.  The OYK team linked him up with Imago & 
Involve (Two social prescribing services that support older people in Dartford).  

Mr W is in regular contact with the OYK team. 

His wife has been diagnosed with cancer. Both Imago and Involve are now actively 
supporting Mr W.   

He is very grateful for all the support he is receiving. 

Case Studies - Why Weight Adult Weight Management Programmes 

Case study 1 Why Weight Adult Weight Management Programme 

QTR: 4    Face To Face Delivery Advisor JS 

Age: 38 Sex: Male  

Quintile: 5 

Disability:  Partially sighted/ Blind  

Employment status: Unemployed  

Ethnicity: White British 

Referred by Lowfield Medical Centre for weight loss and exercise  

Overview – brief summary of the Case  

This was a challenge for the facilitator’s as this was our first partially sighted blind 
attendee on a weight loss group. 

Page 48Agenda Item 8



 Mr D required substantial assistance during the programme such as being guided to 
the scales, and assistance throughout the physical exercise sessions of the 
programme. 

Nevertheless, with support he engaged and benefitted enormously from the why 
weight group and attended every session.  

Outcomes 

Starting weight: 123.5kg. End weight: 120kg 

Starting waist size: 123cm. End waist size: 118cm 

The programme helped Mr D with his weight loss journey and also in developing his 
exercise levels which, he built up each week.  

At the end of the 12 week period Josh, the Why Weight facilitator, put a 45 minute 
home exercise programme together for the group to continue to do at 12:30 on a 
Tuesday in order to maintain the routine. 

Mr D was keen to carry on working towards a new healthy lifestyle which, 
encompassed healthy eating and exercise, in particular the home exercise routine 
which he was going to do with his wife going forward. 

Case study 2 Why Weight Adult Weight Management Programme 

QTR: 4   Face to Face Delivery Advisor JS & AE 

Age: 35 Sex: Female  

Quintile: 2 

Disability:  Autism & Learning Disability  

Employment status: Unemployed  

Ethnicity: White British 

Referred by KCHFT for weight loss and exercise  

Overview – brief summary of the Case  

Miss D needed help and support to lose weight and be more physically active. 

Miss D is accompanied and supported each week by her support worker from social 
services.  

The medication Miss D often affected her ability to focus within the group’s sessions. 

 

Page 49 Agenda Item 8



Outcomes 

Miss D attended all 12 sessions of the programme and achieved some great results.  
She noticed the difference in how her clothes fitted. Advisors noticed how her mood 
improved noticeably as the course progressed.  

Starting weight: 100kg. End weight: 97.6kg   

Starting waist size: 107.5cm. End waist size: 93cm 

Although Miss D benefited from a group setting, advisors reported on how the 
delivery of sessions had to be adapted to cater for her needs. Miss D also needed 
additional 1:1 support after each session had finished. This was challenging and time 
consuming for advisors. 

After the programme had ended Miss D made numerous calls for more 1:1 support. 

We have spoken with Miss D and her Case worker to stress that we do not have the 
capacity to offer continuous on-going support. 

Case study 3 Why Weight Adult Weight Management Programme 

QTR: 4 Face to Face Delivery Advisor JM &AE 

Age: 78 Sex: Male  

Quintile: 3 

Disability:  Mobility Issues, Co-morbidities 

Employment status: Retired  

Ethnicity: White British 

Referred by KCHFT for weight loss and exercise  

Overview – brief summary of the Case  

Mr K has co-morbidities and mobility issues exacerbated by his weight. Mr K uses a 
walking sticks and was prone to becoming breathless. The client was accompanied 
by his wife who, also took part in the 12 week programme and provided him with 
much needed moral support.   

On the first two consecutive weeks of the Why Weight Mr K and his wife did not stay 
for the exercise element of the session. 

It was suggested that his wife could take part in the exercise while the second 
facilitator walked round the church hall with Mr K to enable him to join in and, get 
some light exercise.  

Page 50Agenda Item 8



Mr K feedback that he enjoyed and benefitted from this. It also made him feel part of 
the group and thenceforth they both would stay for the duration of the session. 

He went on to become an active participant in the group and was great at motivating 
others. 

Outcomes 

Starting weight: 149kg. End weight 142kg: loss of 7 kg 

Starting waist size: 164cm. End waist size: 150cm 

Mr K reported feeling much better and was pleased with the fact that his clothes 
fitted him better. He stated that he was less breathless and also, felt empowered by 
an action plan put in place to enable him to do exercise at home going forward. 

Case study 4 Why Weight Adult Weight Management Programme 

QTR: 4   Face To Face Delivery Advisor JM & AE 

Age: 70 Sex: Female  

Quintile: 3 

Disability:  Mobility Issues 

Employment status: Retired  

Ethnicity: White British 

Referred by Self-Referral for weight loss and exercise  

Overview – brief summary of the Case  

This client self-referred for weight loss and wanted to support her husband (Mr K 
case study above)  

She also needed to get advice on diet and exercise, and wanted targeted support 
from a group setting to be able to improve her health.  

Outcomes 

Starting weight: 84.9kg. End weight 81kg: loss of 3.90 kg 

Starting waist size: 109.5cm. End waist size: 100cm 

S who gave some really good feedback about the group staff and resources. She 
had enjoyed being part of the group and also being encouraged to stay for the 
exercise at the end. S was looking forward to doing some health walks, looking at 
what the Healthy Living Centre offers, downloading the One You Apps and also 
implementing the home exercise programme outlined by instructor.  

Page 51 Agenda Item 8



 

Case study 5 Why Weight Adult Weight Management Programme 

QTR: 4   Advisor JM 

Age: 57 Sex: Female  

Quintile: 2 

Disability: None  

Employment status: Employed   

Ethnicity: White British 

Referred by Lowfield Surgery for weight loss and exercise  

Overview – brief summary of the Case  

Ms P brought a positive energy to the group. She focussed on her goals which, were 
to get fitter and healthier. She worked exceptionally well within a group setting and 
often inspired others to stay on to partake in the exercise aspect of the session. 

Outcomes 

Starting weight: 88.2kg. End weight 82.8kg:  Loss 5.40 kg  

Starting waist size: 113cm. End waist size: 102.5cm 

Ms P did really well and was also keen to build up her exercise programme outside 
the group. She was a key instigator in swapping contact details with others at the 
end in order to keep the momentum going after the program finished. 

Case study 6 Why Weight Adult Weight Management Programme 

QTR: 4    Face To Face Delivery Advisor JS 

Age: 62 Sex: Female  

Quintile: 2 

Disability:  None 

Employment status: Unknown  

Ethnicity: White British 

Referred by KCHFT weight loss and exercise  

Overview – brief summary of the Case  

Page 52Agenda Item 8



This client had left the 1:1 weight loss support scheme early in July 2021 due to 
health issues and was sign posted over again to the service for to a group weight 
loss program. However, was reticent about group work.   

The OYK team helped her to overcome her fears and concerns about group work 
and suggested she try the group as a “taster session”. 

Despite her initial nervousness, Mrs C saw a real weight loss straight away, she had 
almost talked herself out of having lost any weight so was pleasantly surprised when 
she had not only lost weight but significant inches from her waist. She noticed the 
difference in how her clothes fitted and a an uplift in her mood too 

Outcomes 

Starting weight: 101.9kg. End weight 97.6kg: 1/2 Stone loss 

Starting waist size: 131cm. End waist size: 99.5cm 

This has been a real boost for C. At the end she swapped numbers with a number of 
other participants at my suggestion who were going to stay in touch to meet and 
support one another. This will be key for C who will benefit from the support and 
could be seen to benefit from the group enormously. C stated at the end that she 
had genuinely enjoyed the groups, was sorry they were over but excited to continue 
the journey with her new friends. 

 

 

 

 

Appendix B Case studies And Testimonies On-line Exercise Class  

Case Study 1 On-line Exercise Class  

QTR: 3 Zoom on-line WW Advisor: JM 

Age: 54 Sex: Female  

Quintile: 1 

Disability:  None  

Employment status: Unemployed  

Ethnicity: White British 

Referral process – who made the referral and why 

Page 53 Agenda Item 8



Referred by Lowfield Medical Centre for weight loss and exercise  

Overview – brief summary of the Case  

 Lockdown low mental health and unable to go to the gym 
 Joined the Online exercise classes offered by The One You Kent Team 
 Also joined the on-line weight loss group 

 
Outcomes  

 Lost 8Kg  
 Client has reduced portion size and ultimately her weight and is fitter now than 

she has ever been before!  
 Client reports feeling fitter than ever  
 Client has lost weight and says her clothes feel looser self-esteem and 

confidence has really improved 
 She is now more confident doing more challenging exercise sessions.  

Case studies 2 On-line Exercise Class  

Helen April 2021 On - Exercise Classes April 21 

‘Thank you for the option of the free on-line exercise classes. They have really 
helped me, I feel much more agile and fitter.  They’ve helped me establish a new 
patter and given me ideas of exercises I can do at home on my own.  I had lost my 
motivation doing exercises at home on my own, so the sessions have really helped’ 

Testimonials Face To Face Exercise Classes - Zumba  

Carol Class Attendee  

I attend a weekly Zumba class with Stephanie on a Monday evening and thoroughly 
enjoy her class. 

It is always well attended and whatever sort of day you have, after a good workout it 
can really lift your spirits.  Everyone is very friendly and just makes you feel 
very welcome. 

Stephanie is a lovely, bubbly teacher and ensures everyone is enjoying the classes. 

Zornitsa Class Attendee  

I attend Zumba class in TEMPLE HILL with Stephanie since 08/10/2018, I remember 
the date that was my birthday and was great time, around people.  I didn’t have  a lot 
friends that time. During Covid Stephanie provided us with a lot of videos to keep us 
fit and refresh. The class is amazing, all the people are friendly, Stephanie do great 
work. 

Ruksana Class Attendee 

Page 54Agenda Item 8



Best class I've ever been to. Fun, great workout, Stephanie is an excellent instructor 
- so friendly and encouraging. 
If you're considering it, I would definitely recommend. 

Yasmin Class Attendee 

I love attending Zumba classes, it keeps me fit and healthy, it's close to home and 
the price is very affordable. 

Page 55 Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 56



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE  
14 March 2023                         

CABINET 
23 FEBRUARY 2023 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 2022/23 
 

 
 
1. Summary 
 
 
1.1 To report on the third quarter returns on the Corporate Plan performance    

indicators and to recommend accordingly. 
 
 
2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1 That the Corporate Plan 2021/2023 Performance Indicators Report, at Appendix 

A, be noted. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 
3.1. The Corporate Plan sets out the vision and priority themes for the 

Council and the Borough as a whole. It provides a focus for the work of 
the Council from 2021 to 2023, taking account of its primary role in 
delivering high quality services to local residents and businesses, and 
its key role in the regeneration of the area. 

3.2. The Corporate Plan themes are: 

 Economic Development and Regeneration 

 Health and Wellbeing 

 Safe and Cohesive Communities 

 Environment and Sustainability 

 Housing 

In addition, the Plan includes a theme relating to the Council itself: 

 A Council Performing Strongly 

3.3. In order for the Council to assess the effects of Covid and Brexit before 
looking to a longer planning period the Corporate Plan only covers a two-
year period, rather than the usual three. 

3.4. There is a set of performance indicators for each theme. These are 
divided between those indicators which relate to services directly 
provided by the Council and those which relate to the wider state of the 
Borough, where the Council will not have prime responsibility but instead 
works in partnership with those who do, these are termed “Borough 
Indicators”. 

Page 57 Agenda Item 9



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE  
14 March 2023                         

CABINET 
23 FEBRUARY 2023 

3.5. The indicators are set out in Appendix A to this report. 

4. Points to note 
 
4.1 Further to feedback when reviewing the Q2 performance indicators the 

annual figures for 2020/21 have been included in the report to enable 
members to understand longer term trends. 

 
4.2 Overall, the Corporate Performance Indicators evidence strong and 

consistent performance across most areas.  Some key areas to note are 
highlighted below. 

 
4.3 PPI-29 Community Infrastructure Levy Income – Cabinet has recently 

agreed the first six projects being funded through a new programme of 
CIL roll out for unparished areas. 

 
4.4 PPI-37 Delivery of key projects – significant milestone in the works to 

One Bell Corner has been the announcement of the bronze sculptures 
of Sir Mick Jagger and Keith Richards which have met a largely positive 
reaction. 

 
4.5 B12 District wide unemployment rate – consistently below the Great 

Britain average. 
 
4.6 PCS-3 Percentage attendance at The Orchard Theatre – a very strong 

pantomime season has seen audiences grow for the third quarter in a 
row. 

 
4.7 BI10 Number of reported anti-social behaviour incidents in the Borough 

and BI8 Total number of crimes reported in the Borough – both 
measures seeing reductions which has been welcomed by the Police. 

 
4.8 WRPI-7 Number of flytipping incidents – reduction across last three 

quarters and the Borough continues to have the best 
detection/prosecution rate in the county. 

 
4.9 HPI -1 Rent Collection and Arrears Recovery, BRPI4 Percentage of in-

year Business Rates collected and CTPI4 Percentage of in-year Council 
Tax collected – all collection measures are showing strong performance. 

 
5. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

These are the indicators relating to the Corporate Plan 
 
6. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments* 
 
Financial Implications  None 
Legal Implications None 

Page 58Agenda Item 9



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE  
14 March 2023                         

CABINET 
23 FEBRUARY 2023 

 
Public Sector Equality 
Duty 

Under the Equality Act 2010, the Council is 
required to have regard to the public sector 
equality duty, in the delivery of its services. 

Crime and Disorder Duty Section17 of the Crime and Duty Act 1998 (as 
amended),  places a duty on the Council to 
exercise its functions with due regard to the likely 
effect of the exercise of those functions on, and 
the need to do all that it reasonably can, to 
prevent crime and disorder in its area. 

Climate Impact 
Assessment 

Some of the targets in the Plan relate to 
lessening the impact of climate change. 

Staffing Implications  None 
Administrative 
Implications 

 None  

Risk Assessment  No uncertainties and/or constraints. 
 
  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
  
 Not applicable 
 
7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Corporate Plan 2021 – 2023  Performance Indicators 
Report 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
  Caroline Hicks Community 

Development, 
Growth and 
Communities 

N/A 

Page 59 Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 60



1

APPENDIX A - CORPORATE PLAN 2021-2023 - PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS REPORT 
 

Q3 2022/23                                                                                                      

 

 
 

Corporate Plan Performance Indicators 2021-2023 
 
 
1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 
 
Council Performance Indicators 
 

  2020-21 2021-22 Q1 2022-23 Q2 2022-23 Q3 2022-23   

2020/21 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 
Code Performance Indicator 

Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status 
Target Note 

PPI-29 Community Infrastructure 
Levy income  £7,089,802  £7,974,371  £3,272,482  £1,098,832  £388,189    

The Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL) has been applied to 
eligible development since April 
2014.  Payments can rise or fall 
from quarter to quarter, as CIL is 
only triggered upon 
commencement of consented 
development. 15% of the 
revenue generated from CIL 
liable developments in a local 
area will be passed to 
town/parish councils and applied 
to projects in local 
neighbourhoods.  There is a CIL 
fund for unparished areas and in 
Jan 23 cabinet approved the 
funding of 6 projects through a 
new allocation process 

P
age 61

A
genda Item

 9



2

  2020-21 2021-22 Q1 2022-23 Q2 2022-23 Q3 2022-23   

2020/21 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 
Code Performance Indicator 

Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status 
Target Note 

PPI-37 Delivery of key projects     N/A  N/A  N/A    

Lowfield Street: planning 
permission granted. 
Development being delivered by 
Bellway. Further occupations 
this quarter 
 
High Street: one bell corner and 
outstanding High Street works to 
be completed this quarter.  
Commission of Jagger and 
Richards statues announced and 
gained a positive reaction. 
 
Westgate: looking at 
redevelopment options 

 
 
Overall Borough Indicators 
 

  2020-21 2021-22 Q1 2022-23 Q2 2022-23 Q3 2022-23   

2020/21 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 
Code Performance Indicator 

Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status 
Target Note 

BI1a Overall business birth rate 745  650  
Not measured for 

Quarters 
Not measured for 

Quarters 
Not measured for 

Quarters   

The Business Demography data 
set refers to new business 
registrations as business births. 
Latest available figures show 
that there were 650 business 
births in 2021.  In Kent overall 
(KCC area), the business birth 
rate in 2021 was 8,170. This is 
an annual indicator and the next 
update for 2022 is due at the 
end of November 2023. 

BI1b Overall business death rate 760  715  
Not measured for 

Quarters 
Not measured for 

Quarters 
Not measured for 

Quarters   The Business Demography data 
set refers to businesses that 

P
age 62

A
genda Item

 9



3

  2020-21 2021-22 Q1 2022-23 Q2 2022-23 Q3 2022-23   

2020/21 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 
Code Performance Indicator 

Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status 
Target Note 

have ceased to trade (identified 
through de-registration of the 
administrative units, that is, VAT 
and PAYE) as business deaths. 
Latest available figures show 
that there were 715 business 
deaths in 2021, which is down 
5.9% from the previous year. In 
Kent overall (KCC area), the 
business death rate in 2021 was 
7,395. This is an annual 
indicator and the next update is 
due at the end of November 
2023. 

BI2 District wide unemployment 
rate 5.3%  4.1%  3.0%  2.9%  2.9%  .0% Consistently below the Great 

Britain average 

BI3 Total monthly Town Centre 
footfall     339,683  299,699  237,897     

 
 

P
age 63

A
genda Item

 9



4

 
 
2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
 
 
Council Performance Indicators 
 

  2020-21 2021-22 Q1 2022-23 Q2 2022-23 Q3 2022-23   

2020/21 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 
Code Performance Indicator 

Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status 
Target Note 

PCS-
17 

Usage of DBC Sports 
Facilities: Total Fairfield 
Centre Visits 

52,037  321,688  150,015  146,047  112,445    

Quarter 3 is traditionally the 
quietest quarter each year.  
Swimming numbers continue to 
be strong while gym use is still 
low compared to pre-pandemic 
figures. 

PCS-
18 

Usage of DBC Sports 
Facilities: Average Number of 
Park Run Users 

0  201  265  263  261    

Dartford Central Park park run 
average: 177.8 participants per 
week. 
 
Events: 351 Finishers: 7,049 
Finishes: 62,395 Volunteers:761 
 
Dartford Heath park run 
average: 82.8 participants per 
week. 
 
Events: 172 Finishers: 3,288 
Finishes: 14,243 Volunteers:442 
 
DBC provided the original 
partnership funding for these 
community activities and 
landlord consent to be held on 
council land. 

PCS-
19 

Usage of DBC Sports 
Facilities: Average Number of 
Junior Park Run Users 

0  40  39  38  37    
DBC as landowner, gave 
consent for the Dartford junior 
parkrun to commence. 

P
age 64

A
genda Item

 9



5

  2020-21 2021-22 Q1 2022-23 Q2 2022-23 Q3 2022-23   

2020/21 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 
Code Performance Indicator 

Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status 
Target Note 

 
DBC provided the original 
partnership funding for the 
activity. 
 
The event takes place every 
Saturday morning in Central 
Park. 
 
Events: 264 Finishers: 1,210 
Finishes: 9,869 Average 
finishers per week:37.4 
Volunteers:379 

PCS-2 

Number of local groups 
supported through 
Community Grant and other 
grant schemes 

20  37  11  19  8     

PCS-
20 

Usage of DBC Sports 
Facilities: Princes Park Mini 
Pitch Users 

47  89  43  50  44    

Income for this quarter is slightly 
down compared to the last 
quarter. Largely due to the week 
Com 12th December where we 
were closed for a week due to 
the snow and ice and hirers not 
being able to train/play. The 
Christmas period also plays a 
big part as most of our hirers 
have stop for the Christmas 
period for 2 weeks. Also there 
have been a few cancellations 
due to the world cup matches 
being on. 
 
Total matches: 36 
 
Total Training Sessions:315.5 
 
The value is the number of 

P
age 65

A
genda Item

 9



6

  2020-21 2021-22 Q1 2022-23 Q2 2022-23 Q3 2022-23   

2020/21 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 
Code Performance Indicator 

Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status 
Target Note 

teams playing/training at the mini 
football pitches per month over 
the quarter, be it a one off or 
regular block booking. If it’s a 
competitive match, does not take 
into account the opposing team. 

PCS-3 

Percentage attendance at the 
Orchard Theatre (% of total 
seats available which are 
used) 

0%  33.92%  52.33%  60%  61.67%    
A very strong pantomime season 
has improved attendance for the 
third quarter in a row. 

 
 
Overall Borough Indicators 
 

  2020-21 2021-22 Q1 2022-23 Q2 2022-23 Q3 2022-23   

2020/21 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 
Code Performance Indicator 

Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status 
Target Note 

BI5a Life expectancy gap for men     Not measured for 
Quarters 

Not measured for 
Quarters 

Not measured for 
Quarters   

Last data available is for year 
2019/20 which showed life 
expectancy is 7 years lower for 
men in the most deprived areas 
of Dartford than in the least 
deprived areas. In Kent overall 
(KCC area) life expectancy is 7.8 
years lower for men. This is an 
annual indicator and the next 
update is due July 2023. 

BI5b Life expectancy gap for 
women     Not measured for 

Quarters 
Not measured for 

Quarters 
Not measured for 

Quarters   

Last data available is for year 
2019/20 which showed life 
expectancy is 5.4 years lower for 
women in the most deprived 
areas of Dartford than in the 
least deprived areas. In Kent 
overall (KCC area) life 
expectancy is 5.6 years lower for 

P
age 66

A
genda Item

 9



7

  2020-21 2021-22 Q1 2022-23 Q2 2022-23 Q3 2022-23   

2020/21 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 
Code Performance Indicator 

Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status 
Target Note 

women. This is an annual 
indicator and the next update is 
due July 2023. 

BI6 Percentage of obese children 
in Year 6     Not measured for 

Quarters 
Not measured for 

Quarters 
Not measured for 

Quarters   

Latest available figures for 2018-
19 show that 23.4% of children 
in the Borough in Year 6 (10-11 
year olds) were classified as 
obese (including severe obese). 
This is higher than the previous 
year where 22.2% of children in 
Year 6 were classified as obese. 
In Kent overall (KCC area) for 
2018-19, the figure is 18.4%. 
This is an annual indicator and 
the next update is due at the end 
of 2020. 

BI7b 

Percentage of adults 
achieving at least 150 
minutes of physical exercise 
per week 

63.5%  63.5%  
Not measured for 

Quarters 
Not measured for 

Quarters 
Not measured for 

Quarters   

Latest available figures for 
2021/22 show that 63.5% of 
adults were physically active in 
the Borough.  This indicator is 
defined as the percentage of 
adults (aged 19+) that meet 
Chief Medical Officer 
recommendations for physical 
activity (150+ moderate intensity 
equivalent minutes per week). 
This is an annual indicator and 
the next update is due May 
2023. 

 
 

P
age 67

A
genda Item

 9



8

 
 
3. SAFE AND COHESIVE COMMUNITIES 
 
 
Council Performance Indicators 
 

  2020-21 2021-22 Q1 2022-23 Q2 2022-23 Q3 2022-23   

2020/21 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 
Code Performance Indicator 

Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status 
Target Note 

EARPI
-14 

Total number of arrests 
instigated by CCTV this 
month 

58  128  12  19  21    

DBC continues to be a 'market 
leader' compared to all other 
Council's in Kent and beyond in 
terms of it's CCTV capability and 
assistance provided to the local 
Police. 

EARPI
-15 

Total number of arrests 
supported by CCTV this 
month 

128  250  26  63  41    

DBC continues to be a 'market 
leader' compared to all other 
Council's in Kent and beyond in 
terms of it's CCTV capability and 
assistance provided to the local 
Police. 

EARPI
-27 

Number of Fly Tipping 
investigations by Enforcement 
Officers 

462  316  71  74  75    

DBC remain the most proactive 
local authority in Kent and 
beyond in terms of combatting, 
preventing and detecting Fly 
tipping 

EARPI
-32 

Number of businesses 
supporting Dartford Town 
Against Crime (DTAC) 

64  70  70  70  70    There are currently 68 
businesses in the scheme 

EARPI
-34 

Number of Community 
Protection Warnings issued 485  152  87  91  117    

DBC continue to utilise this 
sanction across services to very 
positive effect as an alternative 
to prosecution. 

EARPI
-35 

Number of Community 
Protection Notices issued 40  15  8  6  4    The numbers have remained 

consistent since the last period. 
 

P
age 68

A
genda Item

 9



9

 
Overall Borough Indicators 
 

  2020-21 2021-22 Q1 2022-23 Q2 2022-23 Q3 2022-23   

2020/21 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 
Code Performance Indicator 

Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status 
Target Note 

BI10 
Number of reported anti-
social behaviour incidents in 
the Borough by the Police 

3,345  2,048  471  491  395    Reduction welcomed by Police 

BI8 Total number of crimes 
reported in the Borough 11,174  13,267  3,151  3,307  3,057    Reduction welcomed by Police 

EARPI
-5 

No: of domestic abuse 
incidents 3,403  3,389  806  837  799    

This issue is a key objective 
within the context of the Dartford 
Community Safety Partnership. 
Paradoxically, the more reports 
of DA is often an indicator of an 
increase in confidence for 
victims to come forward and 
report incidents 

 
 

P
age 69

A
genda Item

 9



10

 
 
4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY 
 
 
Council Performance Indicators 
 

  2020-21 2021-22 Q1 2022-23 Q2 2022-23 Q3 2022-23   

2020/21 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 
Code Performance Indicator 

Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status 
Target Note 

Env1 Pollination corridors             

Work currently underway across 
Kent authorities to set a 
consistent measure for this area 
of work.  Will be reported at end 
of year. 

Env10 

Number of properties in the 
Borough benefitting from 
measures funded by the 
Energy Company Obligation 

    Not measured for 
Quarters 

Not measured for 
Quarters 

Not measured for 
Quarters   

This indicator is reported 
annually and will therefore be 
reported in Q4. 

Env11 
Number of ultra low emission 
vehicles registered in the 
Local Authority area 

    Not measured for 
Quarters 

Not measured for 
Quarters 

Not measured for 
Quarters   

This indicator is reported 
annually and therefore will be 
reported in Q4 

Env12 Average EPC rating of Private 
& Council owned Homes   71  

Not measured for 
Quarters 

Not measured for 
Quarters 

Not measured for 
Quarters   This indicator is collected 

annually and remains consistent 

Env13 Average EPC rating of new 
built Homes   84  86  85  86    Equates to an average EPC of B 

Env14 
Number of DBC homes 
receiving energy efficiency 
measures 

    53  114  37    
This is a new measure for 
2022/23 and so there is no 
historical data for comparison. 

Env15 
Number of private homes 
receiving energy efficiency 
measures 

             

Env2 Carbon emissions and water 
usage by DBC     Not measured for 

Quarters 
Not measured for 

Quarters 
Not measured for 

Quarters   This is an annually reported 
figure and will be reported in Q4 

Env3 Number of DBC energy     Not measured for Not measured for Not measured for   This figure will be reported 

P
age 70

A
genda Item

 9



11

  2020-21 2021-22 Q1 2022-23 Q2 2022-23 Q3 2022-23   

2020/21 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 
Code Performance Indicator 

Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status 
Target Note 

efficiency initiatives Quarters Quarters Quarters annually and therefore will be 
reported in Q4. 

Env6 
Number of Council led climate 
change efficiency initiatives 
per year 

    Not measured for 
Quarters 

Not measured for 
Quarters 

Not measured for 
Quarters   

This indicator will be reported 
annually and will therefore be 
reported in Quarter4 

Env7 % of households deemed to 
be in fuel poverty     Not measured for 

Quarters 
Not measured for 

Quarters 
Not measured for 

Quarters   This is reported annually and will 
therefore be reported in Q4. 

Env8 Number of public EV charging 
points in the Borough     Not measured for 

Quarters 
Not measured for 

Quarters 
Not measured for 

Quarters   
This indicator is reported on 
annually and therefore will be 
reported in Q4 

Env9 Number of local businesses 
successful in LOCASE grants     Not measured for 

Quarters 
Not measured for 

Quarters 
Not measured for 

Quarters   
This indicator is reported on 
annually and therefore will be 
reported in Q4. 

ENVH
20 

Service Requests Timely 
Resp (7 Working Days) Incl. 
Noise & FoI - Monthly 

91.13%  92.46%  97.49%  97.46%  96.2%  90% Team performing well and 
consistently exceeding targets. 

ENVH
21 

Service Requests Timely 
Resp (7 Working Days) Incl. 
Noise & FoI - Cumulative 

91.22%  92.53%  97.14%  97.22%  97.05%  90% Team performing well and 
consistently exceeding targets. 

WRPI-
4 

Number of households taking 
part in green bin service 7,583.92  8,415.33  8,426  8,135  8,021.67  8,000 

Consistently above the original 
6,000 target set.  Amending the 
target to 8,000 which is where 
we wouldn't want performance to 
dip below 

WRPI-
7 Number of flytipping incidents 3,474  3,082  760  441  355  150  

WRPI-
8 Number of graffiti incidents 55  61  46  14  19  10  

WRPI-
15 

Percentage of household 
waste going to landfill 0.7%  1.1%  1.1%  1.1%  1%     

 
 

P
age 71

A
genda Item

 9



12

 
 
5. HOUSING 
 
 
Council Performance Indicators 
 

  2020-21 2021-22 Q1 2022-23 Q2 2022-23 Q3 2022-23   

2020/21 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 
Code Performance Indicator 

Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status 
Target Note 

HPI-66 
Proportion of homes that 
meet the Decent Homes 
Standard 

98.44%  98.42%  
Not measured for 

Quarters 
Not measured for 

Quarters 
Not measured for 

Quarters   
Currently there 52 homes that 
are non-decent and 51 of those 
have refused the works to 
rectify. 

HPI-27 No of households on the 
housing register 963  1,029  1,108  1,079  1,014     

HPI-12 No of households living in 
temporary accommodation 149  100  99  116  129    

This has been increasing this 
year but lower than two years 
ago. 

HPI-15 
Number of households where 
homelessness has been 
prevented 

198  170  36  42  33    Similar number to this stage last 
year. 

HPI-1 
Rent Collection and Arrears 
Recovery - rents collected as 
a proportion of rents owed. 

97.32%  97.59%  92.39%  95.21%  97.27%  96%  

HPI-
17a 

Number of service requests 
completed for Private Sector 
Housing 

310  422  74  98  92  187  

HPI-30 Percentage of repairs 
completed in time 94.05%  86.81%  88.36%  88.78%  92.97%  98.00%  

HPI-8 

Average time taken to re-let 
local authority housing (in 
calendar days) (EXCL major 
works). 

30.88  29.61  39.89  29.5  28.81  20  

 

P
age 72

A
genda Item

 9



13

 
Overall Borough Indicators 
 

  2020-21 2021-22 Q1 2022-23 Q2 2022-23 Q3 2022-23   

2020/21 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 
Code Performance Indicator 

Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status 
Target Note 

HPI-19 Number of affordable homes 
delivered (gross) 95  199  85  0  0  37  

PPI-27 Number of new homes 
completed (April-March) 606  540  

Not measured for 
Quarters 

Not measured for 
Quarters 

Not measured for 
Quarters   

Further data for 2022/23 will be 
available after the end of the 
financial year. 

HPI-
17b 

Number of service requests 
raised for Private Sector 
Housing 

503  508  101  143  146     

HPI-18 
No of private sector vacant 
dwellings that are returned 
into occupation or demolished 

82  48  11  24  24  60  

 
 

P
age 73

A
genda Item

 9



14

 
 
6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY 
 
 
Council Performance Indicators 
 

  2020-21 2021-22 Q1 2022-23 Q2 2022-23 Q3 2022-23   

2020/21 2021/22 Q1 2022/23 Q2 2022/23 Q3 2022/23 
Code Performance Indicator 

Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status Value Status 
Target Note 

BRPI4 Percentage of in-year 
Business Rates collected 93.5%  92.8%  30.8%  56.6%  81.4%  91.0% 

Affected by the billing in January 
for a new assessment of 
£4,142,080 which is not due for 
payment until 1 March 2023 

CTPI4 Percentage of in-year Council 
Tax collected 95.9%  96.3%  29.2%  56.6%  81.4%  91.5% Quarterly amounts shown are 

cumulative 

FPI-5 

Average number of DBC 
working days lost due to short 
term (<4 weeks) illness per 
employee 

3.13  4.09  0.76  0.99  1.31  0.34 

Increased short term absence as 
expected in winter months due 
to seasonal bugs.  Overall short 
term sickness absence levels 
under target for year to date. 

FPI-6 

Average number of DBC 
working days lost due to long 
term (>4 weeks) illness per 
employee 

4.24  3.71  0.69  0.59  0.68  0.42 Long term absence year to date 
under target 

FPI-8 
Percentage of supplier 
payments made within 30 
days of receipt of invoice 

98.53%  98.24%  99.45%  98.2%  98.36%  99%  

HBPI2 
Average time taken to 
process a new claim for 
Housing Benefit (cumulative) 

22  20  21  20  20  23  

 
 

P
age 74

A
genda Item

 9



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
14 March 2023 

COMMITTEE WORK PLAN (2023 -2024) 
 

1. Summary 
 
1.1 At the last meeting of the Committee on 13 December 2022 [Min. No. 29 refers], 

Members agreed a Work Plan for the remainder of the current 2022-23 
municipal cycle.  

1.2 Attached as Appendix A to this report is a draft Work Plan for the ensuing 2023-
2024 municipal year for Members’ consideration.   

 
2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  That the draft Work Plan for the ensuing 2023-24 municipal year [Appendix A 

to the report] be approved, subject to review by Members at subsequent 
meetings in the  municipal cycle.   

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 
3.1 Under the terms of the Committee’s Protocol, Members are required to 

agree a Work Plan for the ensuing municipal year to be reviewed at 
subsequent meetings in the that cycle. 

 
3.2  The draft Work Plan for 2023-24 [Appendix A to the report] lists traditional 

areas of work the Committee has considered in recent years, together with 
stock agenda items considered at all meetings. 

 
3.3  Additional items may be added to the Work Plan with the approval of the 

relevant Director at subsequent meetings in the ensuing 2023-24 municipal 
cycle and agreed items deferred as appropriate.   

 
 4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 

 
The existence of sound policies, which enable quality services to be delivered 
to the residents of Dartford, is a corporate value of the Council. 
 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments 
 

Financial Implications  None 
Legal Implications  None  
Public Sector Equality Duty  None  
Staffing Implications  None 
Administrative Implications  None  
Risk Assessment  No uncertainties and/or constraints 
Climate Impact Assessment N/A 
  

Page 75 Agenda Item 10



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
14 March 2023 

6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
Not applicable. 
 

7. Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Draft Committee Work Plan for the ensuing 2023-24 municipal 
cycle. 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents 
consulted 

Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

2022-23  
Work Plan, 
Committee 
Minutes for 
Dec. 2022  

February 
2023 

David Hook 
(01322) 343276 

Democratic Services/ 
Corporate Services 

 
N/A 

Page 76Agenda Item 10



APPENDIX A 
 

Draft Committee Work Plan 2023-24 Municipal Year 
 

June 2023 September 2023 December 2023             March 2024 

Update from EDC [t.b.c.]   
 

Air Quality Annual Status 
Report 2023 

 

Environmental Enforcement 
Update 

Annual Update from Health 
Care Providers 

 

 Food Policy Update & Action 
Plan Annual Litter Update 

Dartford Preventative Health 
Projects Annual Report 2022-

23 

Committee Annual Report 
2022-23 Municipal Cycle Work Plan Update Annual Recycling Update Draft Work Plan 2024-25 

Corporate Plan Performance  
Indicators 

  
Corporate Plan Performance  

Indicators 
Corporate Plan Performance 

Indicators 

Corporate Plan Performance 
Indicators 

Regulation 9 Notice Regulation 9 Notice Regulation 9 Notice Regulation 9 Notice 

Work Plan Update 
 

 
 Work Plan Update 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

  
 

P
age 77

A
genda Item

 10



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 78


	Agenda
	at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

	3 Confirmation of the minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held on 13 December 2022
	6 Regulation 9 Notice
	8 Dartford Health Inequalities Action Plan and Annual Report 2021-22
	MKSPolicy Overview committee report 2021-22 Appendix A
	MKSFINAL.Appendix B Evidence  Case Studies

	9 Corporate Plan Performance Indicators, Third Quarter 2022-23 Municipal Year
	AppendixAQ3CORPORATEPLAN20212023PERFORMANCEINDICATORSREPORT

	10 Committee Work Plan 2023-24
	Appendix A Draft POC WP 2023-24


